
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(LICENSING ACT 2003) 

26 September 2018

7.00 pm

Town Hall, Watford

Contact
Jodie Kloss/Alan Garside 
legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk 
01923 278376

For information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website.

Publication date: 18 September 2018

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20017/councillors_and_decision_making/163/can_i_attend_a_committee


Committee Membership

Councillor J Fahmy (Chair)
Councillor A Dychton (Vice-Chair)
Councillors A Barton, S Bolton, J Connal, A Grimston, K Hastrick, P Jeffree, B Mauthoor, 
M Mills, M Parker, G Saffery, D Scudder, R Smith and D Walford

Agenda

Part A - Open to the Public

1. Apologies for absence/ committee membership 

2. Disclosure of interests (if any) 

3. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2018 to be submitted and signed.

4. Licensing Sub-Committee minutes and update 

There have been no Licensing Sub-Committees since the last Committee. 

5. Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022 (Pages 3 - 145)

A report of the Head of Community and Environmental Services asking the 
Committee to recommend to Council that the Statement of Principles under the 
Gambling Act 2005 be adopted. 

6. Proposed Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy 2018-2023 (To Follow)

A report of the Head of Community and Environmental Services asking the 
Committee to finalise the policy and recommend it to Council for adoption. 

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=131&Year=0


PART A

 

2.0 Risks
2.1

Nature of 
Risk

Consequence Suggested 
Control 
Measures

Response

(Treat, 
tolerate, 
terminate, 
transfer)

Risk Rating
(the 
combination 
of severity 
and 
likelihood)

Not 
implementing 
the policy

The policy 
would expire 
and there 
would be no 
framework for 
dealing with 
applications 

Ensure policy 
is properly 
implemented 
by 6th January 
2019.

Treat 2

Report to: Licensing Committee

Date of meeting: 26 September 2018

Report of: Head of Community and Environmental Services

Title: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

1.0 Summary

1.1 The council is the local licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005 and is 
required to review, consult upon and publish a policy document every three 
years. The current policy expires on 6th January 2019.

1.2 Only minor amendments are suggested to the existing policy.

1.3 A public consultation on the proposed policy was carried out between 27th July 
and 31st August 2018.

1.4 Members are being asked to approve the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles 2019 – 2022 that will take effect from 6th January 2019.

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



made under 
the Act. As a 
result the 
council would 
not be able to 
effectively 
regulate 
gambling 
premises in the 
Borough.

Legal 
challenge 
from failure 
to properly 
consult

Negative 
perception of 
council and its 
licensing 
functions, and 
challenge 
through the 
Courts

Carry out 
consultation 
in accordance 
with the 
Government’s 
published 
principles of 
consultation

Treat 2

3.0
Recommendations

3.1 That the Licensing Committee recommends that the Council, acting as the 
licensing authority for the Borough of Watford, adopts the Statement of 
Principles under the Gambling Act 2005 as set out at appendix 1, to take effect 
from 6th January 2019 upon the expiry of the existing policy.
 

3.2 The Committee recommends that the Council resolves under section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005 that it will continue with the policy not to issue any casino 
premises licences as it believes a casino would detract from its aspiration to 
create a safe, prosperous and family-friendly town centre.

3.3 That the Local Area Profile is maintained as a separate document, and not 
included within the Statement of Principles, with the upkeep of the profile 
delegated to officers.

Contact Officer:
For further information on this report please contact: Richard Brown, 
Environmental Health Manager (Business)
telephone extension: Extension 8440 email richard.brown@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: Alan Gough, Head of Community and Environmental 
Services 

Page 4

mailto:richard.brown@watford.gov.uk


4.0 Detailed proposal

4.1 Background

Under the Gambling Act 2005 the council is responsible for preparing a “statement 
of principles” setting out how it exercises its various responsibilities in terms of 
issuing premises licences, liaising with the Gambling Commission (a national co-
regulator), carrying out its enforcement functions and issuing permits for small-
scale gambling such as machines in alcohol-licensed premises and registering small 
society lotteries.

4.2 The existing statement of principles was adopted by the council on 23rd November 
2015 and is due to expire on 6th January 2019. The council is required to update its 
statement of principles before the current one expires, and the new draft copy of 
the policy for 2019-2022 is attached at appendix 2.  

4.3 In preparing the statement the licensing authority must have regard to the three 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act, namely: 

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling. The Gambling Commission states: “The requirement in 
relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling”.  

4.4 To give the context for Watford, the following table sets out the current licenses 
issued and applications dealt with over the last three years. 

Type of Licence Currently Issued
Adult Gaming Centre 1
Betting Shop 17
Bingo 1
Club Gaming Permit 0
Club Machine Permit 6
Gaming Machines
(up to 2 machines)

27

Gaming Machines
(3 or more machines)

18

Small Society Lotteries 54
Track Betting 0

Page 5



As can be seen the numbers of licences within Watford are generally very low. 

4.5 Currently, Watford is not one of the areas of the country where casino licences can 
be issued. However, the council is advised to pass a resolution that it will continue 
not to issue any casino licences in order to protect this position should the 
regulations regarding casino licences change.  This reinforces the council’s position 
of aspiring to create a safe, prosperous, and family friendly town centre, with a 
diverse night time economy.  The resolution is contained at paragraph 12.1 of the 
statement.  It is advised that this resolution be in force from 6th January 2019 upon 
the expiry of the current policy.

4.6 Officers believe that the policy is working well and are not proposing any changes 
other than those laid out in paragraphs 4.7 and 4.8. 

4.7 In January 2018 Public Health England, the Local Government Association and the 
Gambling Commission wrote to Directors of Public Health in England outlining the 
links between Public Health and gambling; specifically that problem gambling can 
have an impact on physical, mental and emotional health and wellbeing. The letter 
is attached at Appendix 4. 

The letter suggests that local Public Health teams have a critical role to play in 
developing licensing authorities’ Statement of Principles as they have a good 
understanding of health issues within a local authority area.

This view was emphasised in a presentation by the local Director of Public Heath to 
the Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire Chief Executives group in March 2018 and by 
the Gambling Commission to the Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire Licensing Officers 
Group in July 2018. These presentations are attached as appendices 5 and 6.  
Therefore, we would like to strengthen the links between the council and the local 
Director of Public Health, in order to further promote the licensing objective 
relating to the protection of children and other vulnerable people from gambling. 

This is because local Public Health teams are well placed to understand the 
physical, mental and emotional health and wellbeing impact that problem gambling 
can have on individuals and their families.

Specifically, in partnership  with the local Director of Public Health, the police and 
other partners and agencies we propose to develop a Local Area Profile, using 
health statistics and other data, that will assist premises licence holders and 
applicants with their local risk assessments.

It is recommended that the Local Area Profile is maintained as a separate 
document, and not included within the Statement of Principles, with the upkeep of 

Page 6



the profile delegated to officers. This is for the simple reason of maintenance, and 
how keeping the profile separate means that this may be updated as and when it is 
required without the need for consulting on changes to the whole policy.

Also whilst the Local Director of Public Health is not a Responsible Authority the 
council believes involving the local Public Health team will help promote the 
licensing objectives, so we are proposing to provide information on premises 
licences applications to the Director of Public Health for their comment. 

4.8 A further proposal is to change how gaming machine applications are considered. 
At present notifications and applications for five or more gaming machines permits 
are dealt with by a sub-committee of councillors. We are proposing that these now 
be dealt with by the licensing authority’s officers if there were no representations 
and officers are satisfied that the licensing objectives will be promoted, so that a 
sub-committee does not have to be convened. If representations are received 
these will still be considered by a sub-committee. 

5.0 Consultation

5.1 A public consultation was carried out between 27th July and 31st August 2018.

5.2 Officers can confirm that the following parties were consulted on this proposal, 
identified as responsible authorities under the Gambling Act, and parties who 
represent businesses and other persons within the Borough:

(a) Holders of premises licences, permits and gaming machine notices issued 
under the Act

(b) Trading Standards (Hertfordshire County Council)
(c) Residents of the Borough (residents’ associations)
(d) Hertfordshire Constabulary 
(e) Gambling Commission
(f) Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service
(g) Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board (Hertfordshire County Council)
(h) Development Management (Watford Borough Council)
(i) Environmental Health (Watford Borough Council)
(j) Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs
(k) Watford Borough Councillors 
(l) Hertfordshire County Council Director of Public Health 

Details of the consultation were placed on the council website and a public notice 
was placed in the Watford Observer on 27th July 2018.

Page 7



5.3 The consultation questions are shown in Appendix 3.

5.4 Consultation Responses

5.5 Two consultation responses were received. These are shown in Appendix 7 and are 
supportive of the proposed changes to the policy.

The local Director of Public Health was supportive of the proposed changes when 
initially contacted but a formal consultation was not received.

5.6 Officers are proposing the following changes to the policy:

5.6.1 An updated Borough Profile (section 4.1)

5.6.2 To further promote the licensing objective relating to the protection of 
children and other vulnerable people from gambling, the council proposes 
to work with the local Director of Public Health, the police and other 
partners and agencies to develop a Local Area Profile, using health data and 
other data (sections 3.23 and 4.12). It is designed to assist premises licence 
holders and applicants with their local risk assessment. The local risk 
assessment details the measures premises licence holders will take to 
promote the licensing objectives.

5.6.3 Whilst Local Public Health Departments are not Responsible Authorities the 
licensing authority will seek advice from the local Public Health team in in 
order to assess an application. This approach will be taken to assist the 
licensing authority in exercising its own functions as a responsible authority. 
(sections 3.24 and 5.2)

5.6.4 It is proposed to replace the current 19.11 of the policy with the following 
sections: 

19.11 Notifications and applications for fewer than five machines shall be 
dealt with by the licensing authority’s officers.  

19.12 Applications for five or more machines will be referred to a licensing 
sub-committee of councillors, unless there are no representations and 
officers are satisfied that the licensing objectives will be promoted. In 
these situations notifications and applications will be dealt with by the 
licensing authority’s officers.

5.7 Officers are proposing no changes to the following sections of the policy:  

Section 6: The approach that the council takes when dealing with Interested 

Page 8



Parties and representations.

Section 7: The approach that the council takes when exchanging information with 
the Gambling Commission, the police and other partners.

Section 8: The approach that the council takes to enforcement.

Section 9: How the council deals with premises licences.

Section 10: How the council deals with Adult Gaming Centres.

Section 11: How the council deals with Licensed Family Entertainment Centres.

Section 12: The council’s approach to casinos.

Section 13: How the council deals with bingo premises.

Section 14: How the council deals with betting premises.

Section 15: How the council deals with track betting.

Section 16: How the council deals with travelling fairs.

Section 17: How the council deals with premises licence reviews.

Section 18: How the council deals with Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre 
gaming machine permits.

Section 20: How the council deals with Prize Gaming Permits.

Section 21: How the council deals with Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits.

Section 22: How the council deals with Temporary Use Notices.

Section 23: How the council deals with Occasional Use Notices.

Section 23: How the council deals with Small Society Lotteries.

6.0 Implications

6.1 Financial

6.1.1 The Shared Director of Finance comments that, as an update to existing policy, 

Page 9



there are expected to be no financial implications.

6.2 Legal Issues (Monitoring Officer)

6.2.1 The Head of Democracy and Governance comments that the Gambling Policy is 
legally required to be reviewed every three years and must be determined by 
Council. The other legal implications are contained in the policy and the report.

6.3 Equalities/Human Rights

6.3.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment of the revised policy has been carried out and is 
attached as Appendix 8. No changes to the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles were needed as a result of the Assessment

6.4 Staffing

6.4.1 There are no staffing issues associated with this report

6.5 Accommodation

6.5.1 There are no accommodation issues associated with this report

6.6 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder

6.6.1 The policy itself does not impact on Community Safety, but as part of the 
processing function discussion will be held with applicants.
 

6.7 Sustainability

6.7.1 There are no sustainability issues associated with this report

Appendices

 Appendix 1 Current Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2016-2019
 Appendix 2 Proposed Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019-2022 
 Appendix 3 Consultation questions  
 Appendix 4 Public Health and Gambling joint letter
 Appendix 5 Director of Public Health Presentation to Herts and Beds Chief 

Executives group
 Appendix 6 Gambling Commission Presentation to Herts and Beds Licensing 

Officers Group
 Appendix 7 Consultation Responses
 Appendix 8 Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 10



Background Papers

No papers were used in the preparation of this report.

 

Page 11



 

 1 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 

 

 

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
 

JANUARY 2016 
 
 
 

Comments are invited on this document to: 
 
Licensing Team 
Community & Customer Services 
Watford Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Watford 
Hertfordshire 
WD17 3EX 
 
Tel: 01923 278476 
Fax:   01923 278627 
Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk 

Page 12



 

 2 

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 

Gambling Act 2005 
 

(Published 24 November 2015) 
 
1. Preface 

 
1.1 Under the Gambling Act 2005, a new regime for regulating gambling and 

betting was introduced throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 
2007.  Apart from spread betting, gambling and betting (including the National 
Lottery) are regulated by the Gambling Commission, whose duties include 
licensing the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and 
betting facilities.   

 
1.2 Watford Borough Council, along with other local licensing authorities, has a 

duty under the Act to license premises where gambling takes place, and to 
license certain other activities (such as registering small society lotteries).  
This document sets out how we intend to approach this task.    

 
1.3 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 

licensing authorities: 
 

One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area.  The 
authority has therefore consulted: 

 
 The holders of premises licences issued under the Gambling Act 2005 in the 

Borough of Watford. 
  
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
1.4 A list of the persons we consulted is provided below: 
 

(a) Holders of premises licences, permits and gaming machine notices 
issued under the Act 

(b) Hertfordshire County Council (Trading Standards) 
(c) Residents of the Borough (residents’ associations) 
(d) Watford and West Herts Chamber of Commerce 
(e) Watford & Three Rivers Trust 

 
 The council has also consulted with the responsible authorities. 
 
1.5 Our consultation took place between 25 September 2015 and 6 November 

2015, and we followed the guidance on Consultation principles issued by the 
Cabinet Office (last updated November 2013), which is available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance. 

Page 13



 

 3 

PART A 
 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1 This Statement of Principles was adopted at a meeting of Watford Borough 
Council on 23 November 2015.  It was placed on our website on 24 
November 2015 and is effective from 6 January 2016.  Copies have been 
placed in public libraries in the Borough as well as being available in the 
Town Hall. 

 
2.2 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any 

person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits 
and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.   

 
Authorised activities 
 
2.3 ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a 

lottery: 
 

• ‘gaming’ means playing a game of chance for a prize 
 
• ‘betting’ means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, 

competition, or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or 
not occurring; or whether anything is true or not true 

 
• a ‘lottery’ is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an 

arrangement, during the course of which one or more prizes are 
allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.   

 
2.4 Private gaming in private dwellings and on domestic occasions is exempt 

from licensing or registration providing that no charge is made for 
participating; only equal chance gaming takes place; and it does not occur in 
a place to which the public have access.  Domestic betting between 
inhabitants of the same premises or between employees of the same 
employer is also exempt. 

 
2.5 Non-commercial gaming and betting (where no parts of the proceeds are for 

private gain) may be subject to certain exemptions.  Further advice should be 
sought from the council’s licensing team where appropriate. 

 
Licensing Objectives 
 
2.6 In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 

authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 
of the Act.  The licensing objectives are: 

 
• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 

associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
 
• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling.  The Gambling Commission states: “The 

Page 14



 

 4 

requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.   

 
 
Statement of Principles 
 
2.7 This Statement of Principles is intended to meet the council’s obligations 

under section 349 of the Act.  In carrying out its’ functions in relation to 
premises licences and temporary use notices, the council will generally aim to 
permit the use of premises for gambling as long as it is considered to be: 

 
• in accordance with any relevant Codes of Practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission 
 
• in accordance with any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 

All references to the guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 5th Edition, (published September 
2015) 

 
• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives  
 
• in accordance with this Statement of Principles. 

 
Types of Licences and Permissions 
 
2.8 Under the Act, the Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing operating 

licences and personal licences.  The council in its’ capacity as a licensing 
authority will:  

 
• be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities 

are to take place by issuing premises licences  
 
• issue provisional statements  
 
• regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing club gaming permits 
and/or club machine permits  

 
• Issue club machine permits to commercial clubs  
 
• grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed family entertainment centres  
 
• receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 

Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or less gaming machines  
 
• grant licensed premises gaming machine permits for premises licensed 

to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under 
the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two machines are required  

 
• register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  
 
• issue prize gaming permits  
 

Page 15



 

 5 

• receive and endorse temporary use notices  
 
• receive occasional use notices 

 
• provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 

licences issued 
 
• maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under 

these functions 
 
• exercise its powers of compliance and enforcement under the Act in 

partnership with the Gambling Commission and other relevant 
responsible authorities.   

  
The Gambling Commission 
 
2.9 The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest.  It does 

so by keeping crime out of gambling; by ensuring that gambling is conducted 
in a fair and open way; and by protecting children and vulnerable people.  The 
Commission provides independent advice to the government about the 
manner in which gambling is carried out, the effects of gambling, and the 
regulation of gambling generally. 

 
2.10 The Commission has issued guidance under section 25 of the Act about the 

manner in which licensing authorities exercise their licensing functions under 
the Act and, in particular, the principles to be applied. 

 
2.11 The Commission will also issue Codes of Practice under section 24 about the 

way in which facilities for gambling are provided, which may also include 
provisions about the advertising of gambling facilities.   

 
2.12 The Gambling Commission can be contacted at: 
 

Gambling Commission 
Victoria Square House 
Victoria Square 
BIRMINGHAM 
B2 4BP 
 
Website:   www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 
Email:  info@gamblingcommision.gov.uk  

 
 

Page 16



 

 6 

3. General Statement of Principles 
 
3.1 The council recognises the wide variety of premises which will require a 

licence or a permit.  These include casinos, betting shops, bingo halls, pubs, 
clubs and amusement arcades. 

 
3.2 In carrying out its licensing functions the council will have regard to any 

guidance issued by the Gambling Commission from time to time. 
 
3.3 The council will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more readily dealt 

with under other legislation.   
 
3.4 To ensure the licensing objectives are met the council will establish a close 

working relationship with the police, the Gambling Commission and, where 
appropriate, other responsible authorities. 

 
3.5 Where children, young persons and other vulnerable people are allowed 

access to premises where gambling takes place, the council may take 
whatever steps are considered necessary to either limit access generally or 
by introducing measures to prevent under-age gambling where it believes it is 
right to do so for the prevention of their physical, moral or psychological harm 
from gambling, especially where it receives representations to that effect. 

 
3.6 Applicants seeking premises licences are encouraged to propose any 

prohibitions or restrictions of their own in circumstances where it is felt that 
the presence of children would be undesirable or inappropriate. 

 
3.7 However, the overriding principle is that all applications and the 

circumstances prevailing at each premises will be considered on their own 
individual merits.  When applying these principles the licensing authority will 
consider, in the light of relevant representations, whether exceptions should 
be made in any particular case.  As with the Gambling Commission, the 
licensing authority will regulate gambling in the public interest. 

 
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder 
 
3.8 The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling 

from being a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures 
that aim to prevent criminals from providing facilities for gambling. 

 
3.9 Anyone applying to the council for a premises licence will have to hold an 

operating licence from the Commission before a licence can be issued.  
Therefore, the council will not generally be concerned with the suitability of an 
applicant and where concerns about a person’s suitability arise the council 
will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.   

 
3.10 If an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises 

which are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, the 
council will, in consultation with the police and other relevant authorities, 
consider whether specific controls need to be applied to prevent those 
premises from being a source of crime.   

 
3.11 There are already powers in existing anti-social behaviour and licensing 

legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it 
arises as a result of noise from a building or from general disturbance once 

Page 17



 

 7 

people have left a building.  The council does not intend to (and indeed, 
cannot) use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues, for example, 
parking problems, which can easily be dealt with using other powers. 

 
3.12 Issues of disorder should only be dealt with under the Act if the disorder 

amounts to activity which is more serious and disruptive than mere nuisance 
and it can be shown that gambling is the source of that disorder.  A 
disturbance might be serious enough to constitute disorder if police 
assistance was required to deal with it.  Another factor which could be taken 
into account is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or 
hear it, and whether those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have 
business interests that might be affected. 

 
3.13 When making decisions in this regard the council will give due weight to any 

comments made by the police. 
 

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 
3.14 The Gambling Commission does not generally expect local authorities to 

become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and 
open way as this will either be a matter for the management of the gambling 
business or will relate to the suitability and actions of an individual.  Both 
issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and 
personal licensing regime. 

 
3.15 Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the 

Commission the council may, in certain circumstances, require conditions on 
a licence relating to the suitability of the environment in which betting takes 
place. 

 

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling 
 
3.16 Apart from one or two limited exceptions, the intention of the Act is that 

children and young persons should not be allowed to gamble and should 
therefore be prevented from entering gambling premises which are ‘adult-
only’ environments. 

 
3.17 In practice, steps will generally be taken to prevent children from taking part 

in, or being in close proximity to, gambling especially with regard to premises 
situated in areas where there may be a high rate of reported truancy.  There 
may also be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are not 
aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly 
attractive to children.  In relation to casinos only, the Gambling Commission 
will be issuing a code of practice about access to casino premises for children 
and young persons. 

 
3.18 When considering whether to grant a premises licence or permit the council 

will consider whether any measures are necessary to protect children, such 
as the supervision of entrances, the segregation of gambling from areas 
frequented by children and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult 
gambling specific premises, such as pubs, clubs, betting tracks etc.   

 
3.19 In seeking to protect vulnerable people the council will include people who 

gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, and 

Page 18



 

 8 

people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling, perhaps due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.     

 
3.20 Children (defined in the Act as under 16s) and young persons (16-17s) may 

take part in private and non-commercial betting and gaming but the Act 
contains a number of restrictions on the circumstances in which they may 
participate in gambling or be on premises where gambling is taking place. An 
adult is defined as 18 and over. In summary: 

 
• betting shops cannot admit anyone under 18 
 
• bingo clubs may admit those under 18 but must have policies to ensure 

they do not gamble, except on category D machines 
 
• Adult Entertainment Centres cannot admit those under 18 
 
• Family Entertainment Centres and premises with an alcohol premises 

licence such as pubs) can admit under-18s, but they may not play 
category C machines which are restricted to those over 18 

 
• clubs with a Club Premises Certificate can admit under-18s, but they 

must have policies to ensure those under 18 do not play machines other 
than category D machines 

 
• tracks will be required to have policies to ensure that under 18s do not 

participate in gambling other than on category D machines. 
 
3.21 The council will always treat each case on its own individual merits and when 

considering whether specific measures are required to protect children and 
other vulnerable people will balance its considerations against the overall 
principle of aiming to permit the use of premises for gambling. 

 
 

Page 19



 

 9 

4. The Borough of Watford 
 
4.1 Watford Borough Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which 

contains ten district councils in total.  The council area has a population of 
approximately 95,500 (mid 2014 estimate), making it one of the smallest in 
the county in terms of population. However, in terms of population density, it 
is the most densely populated district council area in the county, and the 
seventh most densely populated district in England and Wales outside of 
London, reflecting the highly urban nature of the Borough. 

    
4.2 Watford Borough was granted a Royal Charter in 1922.  Traditionally a 

market town, it has developed into an attractive sub-regional shopping centre 
and important centre for cultural and recreational facilities.  Watford has a 
catchment area population of approximately 500,000 within a travel time of 20 
minutes from the town centre. 

 
4.3 Situated in the South West of Hertfordshire, the borough has excellent 

transport links with mainline rail connections to London, Gatwick Airport, the 
Midlands and the North, Underground and Overground connections to 
London, its north-west suburbs and the rural Chilterns, community rail 
connections to St Albans, coach services to Heathrow airport, bus services to 
Luton airport, and convenient road connections via the M1, M25 and A41.   

 
Characteristics of the Borough 
 
4.4 Watford Borough covers an area of 2,142 hectares (8.3 sq. miles).  The Office 

for National Statistics released mid-year estimates for 2014 in June 2015 
which estimated that Watford’s population was 95,500.  In comparison to the 
national averages, Watford has a higher than average number of people of 
working age and of children, and a lower than average number of people of 
retirement age and over.  It is a very diverse borough with residents from a 
wide range of ethnic backgrounds.  The White British population makes up 
62% of the town’s residents, with the next largest ethnic groups identifying as 
being White (other), Pakistani, and Indian (Census 2011). The 2011 Census 
also reveals that 12,300 residents have their day-to-day activities limited by 
long-term health problems or disability, which is lower than average for the 
county and nationally. 

 
4.5 Watford is a major town in the region.  It is a sub-regional shopping 

destination, centered around the Intu Shopping Centre in the town centre, and 
the most vibrant night-time economy in Hertfordshire for which it has been 
awarded Purple Flag status since 2012.  In recent years, Watford has 
successfully diversified into an attractive and popular regional shopping and 
business centre and offers a range of employment opportunities, but with a 
predominance of jobs coming from the service sector, including retail and 
restaurants, bars, pubs and clubs.  Unemployment figures are below the 
national average and, currently, the town is nearly at full employment. 

 
4.6 Whilst the town is prosperous, there are pockets of deprivation, and Watford 

is judged to have more households in deprivation than the national average.  
As part of the London commuter belt Watford is strongly influenced by 
London; and whilst this brings the benefits of a buoyant economy and 
opportunities for employment, it also brings significant other pressures such 
as high house prices and rents, and, with limited land available for 
development, pressure on all land, contributing to a high reliance on rented 

Page 20



 

 10 

properties.  Such factors have a negative effect on the measures used to 
assess the level of deprivation in households, with people less likely to own 
their own home and more likely to live in shared or rented properties. 

 
4.7 Several significant infrastructure projects are planned for the town over the 

next decade, including: 
 

• the redevelopment of Charter Place as part of the upgrade of the Intu 
Shopping Centre 

• the construction of the Metropolitan Line Extension (formerly known as 
the Croxley Rail Link)  to join Watford Junction station to the London 
Underground network and the creation of two new stations in West 
Watford (Cassiobridge and Watford Vicarage Road) 

• the upgrade of Watford Junction station as a result of the increased 
transport offers, allowing for the development of new residential and 
commercial units 

• the regeneration of the land around Watford Hospital to create a vibrant, 
new community offering new homes, employment opportunities, 
community facilities and open spaces and play areas 

• the redevelopment of Watford Business Park and the surrounding area, 
including Ascot Road 

 
4.8 As of 6 April 2016, it is a mandatory condition for holders of operating 

licences to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks.  In making risk 
assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in 
the licensing authority’s statement of principles. 

 
4.9 We recognise that it is not a requirement for licensing authorities to complete 

a local area profile, but we have taken the view that we wish to work 
proactively and in co-operation with licensees when developing their own 
local risk assessments.  We encourage operators to contact the licensing 
authority to consider and identify potential areas of mutual concern affecting 
their business in a way that aims to permit gambling without presenting risks 
to the licensing objectives, as required by the Gambling Act.    

 
4.10 Potential applicants should also refer to the Local Plan (through our 

Development Management Team or on our website at www.watford.gov.uk) 
for details about the local planning authority’s approach to granting planning 
permission for developments where such activities may take place.  
Applicants may also wish to view the Community Safety Partnership Plan and 
the Authority’s Monitoring Report which is available from our website or from 
our offices. 

 
4.11 Further information about the Borough is contained in the council’s Corporate 

Plan, which is published annually and can be obtained from the council’s 
offices or from our website.   

 
4.12 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 

statement of the principles which they proposed to apply when exercising 
their functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  
The statement must also be reviewed from ‘time to time’ and any amended 
parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-published. 

Page 21



 

 11 

 
5. Responsible Authorities 
 

5.1 These are generally public bodies that must be notified of all applications and 
who are entitled to make representations to the council if they are relevant to 
the licensing objectives. 

 
  Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as: 

 
• the Gambling Commission 
 
• the Police 
 
• the Fire Service 

 
• a competent body to advise the authority about the protection of children 

from harm 
 
• the local planning authority 
 
• Environmental Health 
 
• HM Revenue and Customs 
 
• A licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated (that is, the 

council itself and also any adjoining council where premises straddle the 
boundaries between the two).   

 
5.2 Any concerns expressed by a responsible authority in relation to their own 

functions cannot be taken into account unless they are relevant to the 
application itself and the licensing objectives. In this regard the council will not 
generally take into account representations which are deemed to be 
irrelevant, such as: 

 
• there are too many gambling premises in the locality (because need for 

gambling facilities cannot be taken into account) 
 
• the premises are likely to be a fire risk (because public safety is not a 

licensing objective) 
 
• the location of the premises is likely to lead to traffic congestion 

(because this does not relate to the licensing objectives) 
 
• the premises will cause crowds to congregate in one area causing noise 

and nuisance (because other powers are generally available to deal with 
these issues.  It should be noted that, unlike the Licensing Act 2003, the 
Gambling Act does not include as a specific licensing objective the 
prevention of public nuisance.  Any nuisance associated with gambling 
premises should be tackled under other relevant laws).  

 
 Each representation will, however, be considered on its own individual merits. 

 
 
 

Page 22



 

 12 

 
5.3 Child protection 
 
 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are: 

 
• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole 

of the licensing authority’s area 
 

• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group etc 

 
5.4 The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling Act 

2005 are available via the council’s website at www.watford.gov.uk.   
 
 

Page 23



 

 13 

6. Interested parties 
 
6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 

apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 

 
“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation 
to an application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion 
of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the 
applications is made, the person - 
 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 

affected by the authorities activities 
 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 

activities, or 
 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

 
6.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 

apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are: 

 
• each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a 

rigid rule to its decision making.  In the case of doubt, the benefit will be 
given to the party making the representation until the contrary can be 
shown.   

 
• interested parties can include trade associations, and residents’/tenants’ 

associations, providing that they can show they represent someone who 
would be classed as an interested party in their own right.  Councillors 
and MPs may also be interested parties.  Elected councillors may 
represent interested parties, providing they do not also sit on the 
Licensing sub-committee determining the application in question.   

 
• In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular 

premises as to likely to be affected by the authorised activities, or has 
business interests likely to be affected, the council may take account of: 

 
- the size of the premises 
- the nature of the premises 
- the nature of the authorised activities being proposed  
- the distance of the premises from the person making the 

representation 
- the characteristics of the complainant (including any special 

interests or knowledge relating to the application in question)  
- the potential impact of the premises 

 
6.3 The licensing authority will not consider representations that are frivolous or 

vexatious, or which relate to demand or need for gambling facilities.  
Decisions on whether representations are frivolous or vexatious will be made 
objectively and not on the basis of any political judgement.  Where 
representations are rejected, the person making that representation will be 
given a written reason.  A report will be made to the licensing sub-committee 

Page 24



 

 14 

determining the application (if appropriate), indicating the general grounds of 
the representation and the reason it was rejected.   

 
6.4 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, 

without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A 
frivolous representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in 
seriousness, or is unrelated to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission or this statement of licensing policy.    

 
6.5 Interested parties should appreciate that moral objections to gambling, or the 

need for gambling premises, are not valid reasons to reject applications for 
premises licences.   

 
6.6 Representations should ideally: 
 

• be made in writing (preferably in duplicate, unless submitted 
electronically) 

 
• be in black ink on single sides of A4 paper 
 
• indicate the name and address of the person or organisation making the 

representation 
 
• indicate the premises to which the representation relates 
 
• indicate the proximity of the premises to the person making the 

representation.  A sketch map or plan may be helpful to show this 
 
• clearly set out the reasons for making the representation, and which 

objective it refers to. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

 15 

7. Exchange of Information 
 
7.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statement the 

principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under 
sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information 
between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 
350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
7.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 

accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 will 
not be contravened.  The licensing authority will also have regard to Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities, as well as any 
relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
7.3 The authority may from time to time exercise its’ powers under section 115 of 

the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to exchange data and information with the 
police and other partners to fulfil its’ statutory objective of reducing crime in 
the area.     

 
7.4 Details of applications and representations which are referred to a Licensing 

sub-Committee for determination will be published in reports that are made 
publicly available in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000.  Personal details of people making 
representations will be disclosed to applicants and only be withheld from 
publication on the grounds of personal safety where the licensing authority is 
asked to do so.   

 

Page 26



 

 16 

8. Compliance and Enforcement  
 
8.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 

to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified. 

 
8.2 This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and it will endeavour to be: 
 

• proportionate:  it  will only intervene when necessary, remedies will be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised 

 
• accountable: with decisions being justifiable, and be subject to public 

scrutiny 
 
• consistent:  rules and standards will be joined up and implemented fairly 
 
• transparent and open:  licence conditions will be kept simple and user 

friendly;  and 
 
• targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 

side effects.    
 
8.3 The licensing authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes.  

Where matters come to light which are properly the role of other statutory 
agencies however, the licensing authority may bring those matters to the 
attention of those other agencies where appropriate.     

 
8.4 The licensing authority notes the Commission’s risk-based inspection 

programme, based on: 
 

• the licensing objectives 
 

• relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
 

• guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36 
of the Guidance to Local Authorities 

 
• the principles set out in this statement of licensing policy. 

 
8.5 The licensing authority has an established working partnership with the 

Gambling Commission, and undertakes risk-based inspections and 
compliance visits. 

 
8.6 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 

terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which is authorises.  Enforcement 
involves taking formal action where either those requirements are not met or 
illegal activities take place.  

 
8.7 The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for operator and 

personal licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, 

Page 27



 

 17 

supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing 
authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.   

 

8.8 This authority will also keep itself informed of developments as regards the 
work of the Better Regulation Delivery Office in its consideration of the 
regulatory functions of local authorities. 

 
8.9 The authority’s approach to the carrying out of premises licence reviews is set 

out in chapter 17. 
 
 

Page 28



 

 18 

PART B 
PREMISES LICENCES 

 
9. Definition of premises licences 
 
9.1 Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”.  It is for the licensing authority 

to decide whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as 
being separate premises and it will always be a question of fact in the 
circumstances.  The Gambling Commission does not however consider that 
areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separate can be properly 
regarded as different premises. 

 
9.2 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building or those for a 

specific part of the building to be licensed, entrances and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more licences should be separate and identifiable 
so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that 
people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. 

 
9.3 This licensing authority will also pay particular attention to applications where 

access to the licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves 
may be licensed or unlicensed). 

 
9.4 The licensing authority takes particular note of the Commission’s guidance to 

be aware of the following: 
 

• the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being 
harmed by gambling, which means not only preventing them from 
being harmed by gambling and also from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Premises should be configured so that children are not 
invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating 

 
• entrance to and exits from parts of buildings covered by one or more 

premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do 
not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.  In this context it should normally be 
possible to access the premises without going through another 
licensed premises or premises with a permit 

 
• customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 

premises licence. 
 
9.5 The licensing authority will take account of the following factors when 

considering whether premises are separate: 
 

• do the premises have a separate registration for business rates? 
 
• is the premises neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 

by someone else? 
  

• can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 
passageway? 

 

Page 29



 

 19 

• can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 
premises? 
 

9.6 The location of the premises and the suitability of the division (including the 
nature of any partitions etc) will be a matter for discussion in each case 
between the applicant and the licensing authority’s officers. 

 
9.7 The licensing authority notes the Commission’s guidance at paragraphs 7.19 

– 7.23.  Where more than one premises licence is permitted within a building 
the gaming machine entitlement for the separately licensed premises may not 
be aggregated and no more than the permitted number and category of 
machines for the relevant type of premises may be placed in any one of the 
individual sets of premises within the building.  Section 152, when properly 
applied, means that different premises licences cannot apply in respect of 
single premises at different times.  There is no temporal element to a 
premises licence.  Therefore, premises cannot, for example, be licensed as a 
bingo club on weekdays and a betting shop at weekends. 

 
 
Provisional Statements 
 
9.8 In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the 

grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they 
concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  In 
addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters: 

 
• which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence 

stage; or 
 
• which is in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances. 
 
9.9 The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only 

be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are bought into use.  If the construction of a premises is not yet 
complete, or if they need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a 
right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional statement should 
be made instead. In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted 
where there are outstanding construction or alteration works at a  premises, 
this authority will determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage 
consideration process: 

 
• first whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 

 
• second, whether appropriate conditions can be in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to 
be before gambling takes place. 

Page 30



 

 20 

9.10 Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence.  More detailed examples of the circumstances in which 
such a licence may be granted can be found at paragraphs 7.58 – 7.65 of the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

 
 
Location 
 
9.11 The licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered 

with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the 
licensing objectives can.  The authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.   

 
9.12 Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling 

premises should not be located, this policy statement will be updated.  It 
should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being 
made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon 
the applicant showing how the concerns can be overcome.  Reference should 
also be made to the local area risk assessment prepared by the operator. 

 
 
Duplication with other regulatory regimes 
 
9.13 This authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 

systems where possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning or building 
consent, in its consideration of it.  This authority will though listen to, and 
consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be 
met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 

 
9.14 Under section 210 of the Act the licensing authority is not entitled to have 

regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be permitted in 
accordance with the law relating to planning or building.  The licensing 
authority will however consider relevant representations from the local 
planning authority about the effect of the grant of a premises licence on an 
extant planning permission where this relates to the licensing objectives, a 
Commission code of practice, or this statement of principles.  

 
 
Licensing objectives  
 
9.15 The grant of a Premises licences must be reasonably consistent with the 

licensing objectives. 
 
 
Conditions  
 
9.16 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 
 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility 

 
• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for 

Page 31



 

 21 

 
• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and 
 
• reasonable in all other respects.  

 
9.17 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case-by-case basis, 

although there will be a number of control measures this licensing authority 
may utilise should the authority consider it necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives, such as the use of machine and door supervisors, 
supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage for adult-only 
areas, staff training etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard 
under each of the licence types below.  This licensing authority will also 
expect the licence applicant to offer their own suggestions as to ways in 
which the licensing objectives can be met effectively. 

 
9.18 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.  

   
9.19 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach 

to premises licences: 
 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to 
comply with an operating licence condition 

 
• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method 

of operation 
 
• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 

(the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership 
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it 
being reinstated) and 

 
• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 

 
Door Supervisors  
 
9.20 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance for local authorities that 

licensing authorities may consider whether there is a need for door 
supervisors in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in 
terms of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.   

 
9.21 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 

supervisors for the protection of the public.  The licensing authority will make 
a door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history 
of trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised 
from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate. 

Page 32



 

 22 

 
9.22 It is noted though that the Gambling Act 2005 has amended the Security 

Industry Act 2001 and that in-house door supervisors at casinos or bingo 
premises need not be licensed by the Security Industry Authority.  However, 
the licensing authority strongly recommends that any door supervisors or 
security staff who are employed should be licensed by the SIA. 

  
 

Page 33



 

 23 

10. Adult Gaming Centres 
 
10.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
premises.  Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as: 

 
• proof of age schemes 
 
• CCTV 
 
• supervision of entrances/ machine areas 
 
• physical separation of areas 
 
• location of entry 
 
• notices/signage 
 
• specific opening hours 
 
• staff training  
 
• change machines 
 
• advertising sources of help and other means of help for problem 

gamblers  
 
 This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
10.2 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.  

 
10.3 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this licensing authority will 

consider measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of 
information leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 24 

11. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres 
 
11.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 

children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machine areas.  Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues 
such as: 

 
• proof of age schemes 
 
• CCTV 
 
• door supervisors 
 
• supervision of entrances and/or machine areas 
 
• physical separation of areas 
 
• location of entry 
 
• notices / signage 
 
• specific opening hours 

 
• staff training  

 
 This list is not exhaustive. 
 
11.2 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 

leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be 
considered in order to protect children and vulnerable persons. 

 
11.3 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

Page 35



 

 25 

12. Casinos 
 
12.1 The licensing authority has passed a “no casino” resolution under section 166 

of the Act on 23 November 2015, to be in effect from 5 December 2015, on 
the basis that the town has a thriving and diverse night-time economy, 
presently centred around The Parade and primarily characterised by alcohol 
and food-led premises.  Strategies are in place to reinvigorate The Parade 
through our Cultural Plan to end the dominance of alcohol-led premises and 
re-develop Charter Place to incorporate a multi-screen cinema and 
restaurants.    

  
 

Page 36



 

 26 

13. Bingo premises 
 
13.1 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming and will be permitted in alcohol 

licensed premises and in clubs provided it remains below a certain threshold, 
otherwise it will be subject to a bingo operating licence which will have to be 
obtained from the Gambling Commission. 

 
13.2 The holder of a bingo operating licence will be able to provide any type of 

bingo game including cash and prize bingo.  
 
13.3 Commercial bingo halls will require a bingo premises licence from the 

licensing authority. 
 
13.4 Amusement arcades providing prize bingo will require a prize gaming permit 

from the council. 
 
13.5 In each of the above cases it is important that where children are allowed to 

enter premises licensed for bingo, in whatever form, they are not allowed to 
participate in any bingo game, other than on category D machines. When 
considering applications of this type the council will therefore take into 
account, among other things, the location of the games or machines, access 
to those areas, general supervision of the premises and the display of 
appropriate notices. 

 
13.6 A limited number of gaming machines may also be made available at bingo 

licensed premises.  Where category C or above machines are available in 
premises to which children are admitted, the licensing authority will seek to 
ensure that: 

 
• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from 

the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance 

 
• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located 
 
• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised 
 
• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder and 
 
• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18.  

 
13.7 The licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 

states: 
 
18.5 Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be 

played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. 
An operator may choose to vary their licence to exclude a previously 
licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new premises 
licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating 
separate premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed 
premises within a single building or site. Before issuing additional bingo 

Page 37



 

 27 

premises licences, licensing authorities need to consider whether bingo 
can be played at each of those new premises. 

 
18.7 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however 

they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C 
machines are made available for use these must be separated from 
areas where children and young people are allowed. Social 
Responsibility (SR) code 3.2.5(3) states that ‘licensees must ensure that 
their policies and procedures take account of the structure and layout of 
their gambling premises’ in order to prevent underage gambling. 

 
18.9 The gaming machines must remain within the licensed area covered by 

the premises licence. In the unusual circumstance that an existing bingo 
premises covered by one premises licence applies to vary the licence 
and acquire additional bingo premises licences (so that the area that 
was the subject of a single licence will become divided between a 
number of separate licensed premises) it is not permissible for all of the 
gaming machines to which each of the licences brings an entitlement to 
be grouped together within one of the licensed premises. 

 
18.10Equipment operated by a bingo operating licence for the purpose of 

playing bingo, for example what are currently known as mechanised 
cash bingo, electronic bingo terminal (EBTs) and video bingo terminals 
(VBTs), will be exempt from controls on gaming machines provided they 
comply with any conditions set by the Commission and, in the case of 
EBTs, do not hold gaming machine content. 

 
18.11An EBT that offers gaming machine content in addition to bingo content 

is considered to be a gaming machine and would count towards the total 
number of gaming machines or towards the offering of bingo. Any EBTs 
that do not offer gaming machine content would not count towards the 
number of gaming machines. 

 
13.8 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

 
13.9 Operators’ attention is also drawn to paragraph 18.24 – 18.26 concerning 

primary gambling activity.   
 
 
Members’ clubs and commercial clubs 
 
13.10 Bingo may be provided at clubs and institutes either in accordance with a 

permit or providing that the limits in section 275 of the Act are complied with.  
These restrictions limit the aggregate stake or prizes within any seven days to 
£2000, and require the Commission to be notified as soon as is reasonably 
practicable if that limit is breached.  Stakes or prizes above that limit will 
require a bingo operators licence and the corresponding personal and 
premises licences.   

 

Page 38



 

 28 

 
14. Betting premises 
 
14.1 Anyone wishing to operate a betting office will require a betting premises 

licence from the licensing authority.  Children and young persons will not be 
able to enter premises with a betting premises licence. 

 
14.2 The authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises 

within its area.  In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised 
and resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the 
authority a single named point of contact, who should be a senior individual, 
and whom the authority will contact first should any compliance queries or 
issues arise. 

 
14.3 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 

supervisors for the protection of the public.  The Authority will make a door 
supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of 
trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised 
from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate. 

 
14.4 Betting premises will be able to provide a limited number of gaming machines 

and some betting machines.   
 
14.5 The licensing authority has the power to restrict the number of betting 

machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made 
available. We will take into account the size of the premises, the number of 
counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability 
of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it 
is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people.  It will not 
generally exercise this power though unless there are good reasons to do so 
taking into account, among other things, the size of the premises and the 
level of management and supervision especially where vulnerable people are 
concerned. 

 
14.6 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.  

 
14.7 Each application will be considered on its own individual merits. 
 
 
Primary Gambling Activity 
 
14.8 Operating licences issued by the Commission provides that gaming machines 

may be made available for use in licensed betting premises only at times 
where there are also sufficient facilities for betting available. 

 
14.9 In this respect, such facilities must include information that enables customers 

to access details of events on which bets can be made, make such bets, 
learn the outcome and collect any winnings. Where betting facilities are 

Page 39



 

 29 

provided only by betting machines the number of betting machines must 
exceed the number of gaming machines made available for use. 

 

14.10 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) sets out the full 
requirements on operators. To assist operators of betting premises the 
Commission has published a document setting out the indicators that are 
used to assess as to whether the requirements for betting being the primary 
gambling activity in any particular premises are being met. 

 
14.11 Should the licensing authority receive an application to vary a premises 

licence for bingo or betting in order to extend the opening hours, the authority 
will satisfy itself that the reason for the application is in line with the 
requirements on primary gambling activity. (i.e. the need for operating licence 
holders to ensure that there are still sufficient facilities available to participate 
in the gambling activity appropriate to the licence type (‘the primary activity’ or 
‘the principal activity’) at those premises and not replaced by the making 
available of gaming machines). Therefore, the applicant should be able to 
demonstrate that the extension of the opening hours is not designed solely to 
benefit from the machine entitlement and activity which is ancillary to the 
primary activity of the premises, namely betting or bingo. 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 30 

15. Tracks 
 
15.1 Only one premises licence can be issued for any particular premises at any 

time unless the premises is a ‘track’.  A track is a site where races or other 
sporting events take place. 

 
15.2 Track operators are not required to hold an ‘operators licence’ granted by the 

Gambling Commission.  Therefore, premises licences for tracks, issued by 
the council are likely to contain requirements for premises licence holders 
about their responsibilities in relation to the proper conduct of betting.  Indeed, 
track operators will have an important role to play, for example in ensuring 
that betting areas are properly administered and supervised. 

 
15.3 Although there will, primarily  be a betting premises licence for the track there 

may be a number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling activities 
to take place.  Unlike betting offices, a betting premises licence in respect of a 
track does not give an automatic entitlement to use gaming machines. 

 
15.4 When considering whether to exercise its power to restrict the number of 

betting machines at a track the licensing authority will consider the 
circumstances of each individual application and, among other things will 
consider the potential space for the number of machines requested, the ability 
of track staff to supervise the machines, especially if they are scattered 
around the site, and the ability of the track operator to prevent children and 
young persons and vulnerable people betting on the machines. 

 
15.5 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission may provide 

further specific guidance as regards tracks.  We have taken note of the 
Guidance from the Gambling Commission which highlights that tracks are 
different from other premises in that there may be more than one premises 
licence in effect and that the track operator may not be required to hold an 
operator licence as there may be several premises licence holders at the 
track which will need to hold their own operator licences. 

 
15.6 There may be some specific considerations with regard to the protection of 

children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling 
and this authority would expect the premises licence applicants to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 
adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, although they are still 
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category 
D machines) are provided. 

 
15.7 Appropriate licence conditions may be: 
 

• proof of age schemes 
 
• CCTV 
 
• supervision of entrances/machine areas 
 
• physical separation of areas 
 

Page 41



 

 31 

• location of entry 
 

• notices/signage 
 
• specific opening hours 
 
• the location of gaming machines 
 

 This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

 
15.8 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 

leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be 
considered suitable in relation to the protection of children and vulnerable 
people. 

 
15.9 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 

mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

 
15.10 This licensing authority notes the Commission’s view, that it would be 

preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting 
operators on tracks to be the subject of separate premises licences.  This 
would ensure that there was clarity between the respective responsibilities of 
the track operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained 
unit on the premises. 

 
 
Betting machines at tracks 
 
15.11 Licensing authorities have a power under the Gambling Act 2005 to restrict 

the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which 
they are made available, by attaching a licence condition to a betting 
premises licence.   

 
 
Condition on rules being displayed 
 
15.12 In line with guidance from the Gambling Commission the licensing authority 

will attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator 
to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, 
or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to 
the public, such as being could printed in the race-card or made available in 
leaflet form from the track office. 

Page 42



 

 32 

16. Travelling Fairs 
 
16.1 It will fall to the licensing authority to decide whether, where category D 

machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities 
for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is 
met. 

 
16.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 

statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

Page 43



 

 33 

 
17.  Review of Premises Licences 
 
17.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 

parties or responsible authorities.   
 
17.2 However, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the review is to be 

carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is  
 

• relevant to the matters listed below 
 
• frivolous 
 
• vexatious 
 
• will certainly not cause this authority to alter, revoke or suspend the 

licence or  
 
• whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or 

requests for review 
 
• in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission 
 
• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission  
 
• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
 
• in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 

 
17.3 Licensing authority officers may be involved in the initial investigations of 

complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute 
resolution before a full review is conducted.  The licensing authority may 
review premises licences of its own volition.  This may be on the grounds that 
a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises.  A referral to a Licensing sub-Committee of a set of premises for a 
review will be first approved by the Head of Community and Customer 
Services.  

 
17.4 The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 

any reason which it thinks is appropriate.   
 
17.5 This can extend to a review of a class of licences where it considers particular 

issues have arisen.  Reviews of a class of premises will be first agreed to by 
the Head of Community and Customer Services in consultation with the Chair 
of the Licensing (Licensing Act 2003) Committee. 

 
17.6 The purpose of a review is to determine whether the licensing authority 

should take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified the 
licensing authority may: 

 
• add, remove or amend a licence condition (other than a mandatory 

condition) 

Page 44



 

 34 

• exclude or amend a default condition imposed by regulations 
• suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months 
• revoke the premises licence.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

 
17.7 In determining the appropriate course of action the licensing authority must 

have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act as well as any 
relevant representations.   

 
17.8 The Gambling Commission will be a responsible authority in premises licence 

reviews.   
 
 

Page 45



 

 35 

PART C 
Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 

 
18.  Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 
  
18.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 

category D machines only gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing 
authority for this permit.  It should be noted that under section 238 the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for 
making gaming machines available for use.  If they are also used for other 
purposes the application is likely to be refused.   

 
18.2 The Act states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles 

that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for 
a permit.  In preparing that statement, and/or considering applications, it need 
not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to 
any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 25 of the Act.   

 
18.3 Accordingly this licensing authority will also have regard to the licensing 

objectives when considering applications relating to unlicensed FEC permits. 
 

18.4 An FEC gaming machine permit cannot be granted unless the chief officer of 
police has been consulted, and no conditions may be imposed upon the grant 
of a permit.  Therefore the licensing authority will wish to be satisfied as to the 
applicant’s suitability before granting a permit.  Unlicensed FECs, by 
definition, will not be subject to scrutiny by the Gambling Commission as no 
operating (or other) licences will be applied for and issued.   

 
Statement of principles 
 
18.5 Applicants will be expected to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The 
efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their 
merits, however, they may include background checks on staff, training for 
staff in dealing with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, 
or children causing perceived problems on or around the premises. 

 
18.6 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate: 
 

• a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs 

 
• that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 

Schedule 7 of the Act) 
 
• that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 

and prizes; and 
 
• an awareness of local school holiday times and how to identify to the 

local education authority should truants be identified.   
 
18.7 Compliance with any relevant industry Code of Practice for FECs issued by 

BACTA or other trade associations may be taken by the licensing authority as 

Page 46



 

 36 

evidence that (apart from the criteria relating to criminal convictions) the 
applicant has met the above.    

 
18.8 Applicants must submit with their application two copies of plans of the 

premises, to a scale of 1:100, showing the exits/entrances to the premises, 
location of gaming machines, and the location of safety equipment such as 
fire extinguishers.   

 
18.9 The licensing authority may refuse an application for renewal of a permit only 

on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer has been refused 
access to the premises without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not 
be reasonably consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives. 

 
 

Page 47



 

 37 

19. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 
 
19.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 

consumption on the premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing 
authority.   

 
19.2 Under section 284 the licensing authority can remove the automatic 

authorisation in respect of any particular premises if: 
 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit 
of the licensing objectives 

 
• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 

section 282 of the Gambling Act (ie, that written notice has been 
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that 
any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
about the location and operation of the machine has been complied 
with) 

 
• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
 
• an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 

premises. 
 
19.3 Should it be necessary to issue a section 284 order, the licence-holder will be 

given at least twenty-one days’ notice of the intention to make the order, and 
consider any representations which might be made.  The authority will hold a 
hearing if the licensee requests.   

 
19.4 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 

a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based 
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  and “such 
matters as they think relevant.”  

 
Statement of principles 
 
19.5 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case 

by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not use the adult-only gaming 
machines.  The authority will take into account whether access by children to 
the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.    

 
19.6 Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may 

include the adult machines being in site of the bar, or in the sight of staff that 
will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices 
and signage may also be help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable 
persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 

Page 48



 

 38 

19.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of 
gambling machines are to be provided.  This plan may take the form of an 
amendment to the plan attached to the premises licence issued under the 
Licensing Act 2003.   

 
19.8 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a 

premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application 
would need to be applied for, and dealt with as an adult entertainment centre 
premises licence. 

 
19.9 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the 

application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be 
attached. 

 
19.10 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit to must comply with any 

Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine. 

 
Administrative matters 
 
19.11 Notifications and applications for fewer than five machines shall be dealt with 

by the licensing authority’s officers.  Applications for five or more machines 
will be referred to a licensing sub-committee of councillors. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

 39 

20. Prize Gaming Permits 
 
20.1 The licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles which they 

propose to apply in exercising their functions which may, in particular, specify 
matters that the licensing authority propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit.  

 
20.2 Prize gaming may be provided in bingo premises as a consequence of their 

bingo operating licence.  Any type of prize gaming may be provided in adult 
gaming centres and licensed family entertainment centres.  Unlicensed family 
entertainment centres may offer equal chance prize gaming under a gaming 
machine permit.  Prize gaming without a permit may be provided by travelling 
fairs, providing that none of the gambling facilities at the fair amount to more 
than an ancillary amusement.  Children and young people may participate in 
equal chance gaming only.   

 
20.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 

does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance.   

 
Applicants should set out the  types of gaming they are intending to offer and 
should be able to demonstrate:  

 
-  that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out 

in Regulations 
 

-  and that the gaming offered is within the law. 
 
20.4 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by 

which the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot 
attach conditions.  The conditions in the Act are: 

 
• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 

complied with 
 
• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 

premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game 
must be played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; 
and the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the 
day that it is played 

 
• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set 

out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-
monetary prize); and 

 
• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 

other gambling.  
 
20.5 Applications may only be made by people who occupy or plan to occupy the 

premises, are aged 18 or over (if an individual), and no premises licence or 
club gaming permit under the Gambling Act 2005 may be in force.   

 
 
 

Page 50



 

 40 

Statement of principles  
 
20.6 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case 

by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not have access to unequal 
chances prize gaming.  The authority will take into account whether access by 
children to the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.    

 
20.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of prize 

gaming is to be provided.    
 
 
 

Page 51



 

 41 

21. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 
 
21.1 Members’ clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club gaming 

permit or a clubs gaming machines permit.   
 
21.2 The licensing authority notes paragraphs 25.44 – 25.49 of the Commission’s 

Guidance as to matters to take into account when determining that a club 
meets the statutory qualifying requirements.  These include the club’s 
constitution; the frequency of gaming; and ensuring that there are more than 
25 members.  The club must be conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes 
other than gaming, unless the gaming is in bridge and whist clubs covered by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.   

 
21.3 The Commission advises that licensing authorities may only refuse 

applications on the grounds that: 
 

• the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not 
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied  
 

• the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons 

 
• an offence under the Act or a breach of the permit has been 

committed by the applicant whilst providing gaming facilities  
 

• a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or  

 
• an objection has been raised by the Commission or by the police.   

 
 
Club gaming permit 
 
21.4 A club gaming permit allows the premises to provide  
 

• up to three machines of categories B, C or D 
 
• equal chance gaming and  
 
• games of chance as set out in regulations.   

 
Club gaming machine permit 
 
21.5 A club gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide up to three 

machines of categories B, C or D. 
 
21.6 The licensing authority will wish to be satisfied that applicants for these 

permits meet the statutory criteria for members’ clubs contained in sections 
266 and 267 of the Act.  Clubs which hold a club premises certificate under 
the Licensing Act 2003 are entitled to benefit from a fast-track application 
procedure. 

 
 

Page 52



 

 42 

22. Temporary Use Notices 
 
22.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 

no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. 

 
The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence.  
 
The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 
(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that temporary use notices 
may only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, 
where the gaming is intended to produce a single overall winner.  There can, 
however, be more than one competition with a single winner held at the 
individual event covered by a specific temporary use notice.  The facilities 
may not be provided in circumstances where any person participating in the 
gaming does so by means of a gaming machine.  Equal chance gaming is 
gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank and gives 
equally favourable chances to all participants.  Examples of equal chance 
gaming include games such as backgammon, mah-jong, rummy, kalooki, 
dominoes, cribbage, bingo and poker. 
 
There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  
The meaning of “premises” in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities and at paragraph 
14.10 of the Guidance.  As with “premises”, the definition of a “set of 
premises” will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each 
notice that is given.  In the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  
In considering whether a place falls with the definition of a “set of premises”, 
the licensing authority need to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises.  
 
This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in place that could be described as 
one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  

 
 
23. Occasional Use Notices 
 
23.1 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices 

aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded.  The licensing authority will though need to consider the definition 
of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the 
notice.   

Page 53



 

 43 

24. Small Society Lotteries  
 
24.1 The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 

enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries.  This authority 
considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk 
status of an operator: 

 
• submission of late returns (returns must be submitted within three months 

of the date that a lottery was drawn) 
 
• submission of incomplete or incorrect forms 

 
• breaches of the limits for small society lotteries.   

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 54



 

 44 

Should you have any comments as regards this document please send them 
via e-mail or letter to: 

 
 

Austen Young 
Licensing Team 
Community & Customer Services 
Watford Borough Council 
Town Hall 
Watford 
Hertfordshire 
WD17 3EX 
 
Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk 

Page 55



GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES - draft

JANUARY 2019

Comments are invited on this document to:

Environmental Health and Licensing Section
Community & Environmental Services
Watford Borough Council
Town Hall
Watford
Hertfordshire
WD17 3EX

Tel: 01923 278476
Fax:  01923 278627
Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk

Page 56

mailto:licensing@watford.gov.uk


STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES
Gambling Act 2005

(Published 6th January 2019)

1. Preface

1.1 Under the Gambling Act 2005, a new regime for regulating gambling and 
betting was introduced throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 
2007.  Apart from spread betting, gambling and betting (including the National 
Lottery) are regulated by the Gambling Commission, whose duties include 
licensing the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and 
betting facilities.  

1.2 Watford Borough Council, along with other local licensing authorities, has a 
duty under the Act to license premises where gambling takes place, and to 
license certain other activities (such as registering small society lotteries).  
This document sets out how we intend to approach this task.   

1.3 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 
licensing authorities:

One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area.  The 
authority has therefore consulted:

The holders of premises licences issued under the Gambling Act 2005 in the 
Borough of Watford.

One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

1.4 Our consultation took place between 27th July 2018 and 31st August 2018, 
and we followed the guidance on Consultation principles issued by the 
Cabinet Office (last updated March 2018), which is available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance.

1.5 In drawing up the policy, we have consulted with:

 Local residents and their representatives
 Holders of various licences for premises in the Borough who will be affected 

by it
 Hertfordshire Constabulary
 Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service
 Hertfordshire Local Safeguarding Childrens’ Board
 Hertfordshire Director of Public Health
 Watford Business Improvement District  
 the Gambling Commission
 the local planning authority
 Environmental Health
 HM Revenue and Customs

Page 57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


1.6 We placed details on our website and a public advertisement, and issued a 
press release which was published in the Watford Observer on 27th July 2018. 

Page 58



PART A

2. Introduction

2.1 This Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the council’s 
Licensing Committee on 26th September 2018 and adopted at a meeting of 
full council on 16th October 2018.  It is effective from 6th January 2019 and 
expires on 6th January 2022.

2.2 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits 
and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.  

Authorised activities

2.3 ‘Gambling’ is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a 
lottery:

 ‘gaming’ means playing a game of chance for a prize

 ‘betting’ means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, 
competition, or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or 
not occurring; or whether anything is true or not true

 a ‘lottery’ is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an 
arrangement, during the course of which one or more prizes are 
allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.  

2.4 Private gaming in private dwellings and on domestic occasions is exempt 
from licensing or registration providing that no charge is made for 
participating; only equal chance gaming takes place; and it does not occur in 
a place to which the public have access.  Domestic betting between 
inhabitants of the same premises or between employees of the same 
employer is also exempt.

2.5 Non-commercial gaming and betting (where no parts of the proceeds are for 
private gain) may be subject to certain exemptions.  Further advice should be 
sought from the council’s licensing team where appropriate.

Licensing Objectives

2.6 In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 
of the Act.  The licensing objectives are:

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.  The Gambling Commission states: “The 

Page 59



requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

Statement of Principles

2.7 This Statement of Principles is intended to meet the council’s obligations 
under section 349 of the Act.  In carrying out its’ functions in relation to 
premises licences and temporary use notices, the council will generally aim to 
permit the use of premises for gambling as long as it is considered to be:

 in accordance with any relevant Codes of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission

 in accordance with any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 
All references to the guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 5th Edition, (published September 
2015 and updated in September 2016)

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives 

 in accordance with this Statement of Principles.

Types of Licences and Permissions

2.8 Under the Act, the Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing operating 
licences and personal licences.  The council in its’ capacity as a licensing 
authority will: 

 be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities 
are to take place by issuing premises licences 

 issue provisional statements 

 regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing club gaming permits 
and/or club machine permits 

 Issue club machine permits to commercial clubs 

 grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed family entertainment centres 

 receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 
Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or less gaming machines 

 grant licensed premises gaming machine permits for premises licensed 
to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under 
the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two machines are required 

 register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 

 issue prize gaming permits 

Page 60



 receive and endorse temporary use notices 

 receive occasional use notices

 provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 
licences issued

 maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under 
these functions

 exercise its powers of compliance and enforcement under the Act in 
partnership with the Gambling Commission and other relevant 
responsible authorities.  

 
The Gambling Commission

2.9 The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest.  It does 
so by keeping crime out of gambling; by ensuring that gambling is conducted 
in a fair and open way; and by protecting children and vulnerable people.  The 
Commission provides independent advice to the government about the 
manner in which gambling is carried out, the effects of gambling, and the 
regulation of gambling generally.

2.10 The Commission has issued guidance under section 25 of the Act about the 
manner in which licensing authorities exercise their licensing functions under 
the Act and, in particular, the principles to be applied.

2.11 The Commission will also issue Codes of Practice under section 24 about the 
way in which facilities for gambling are provided, which may also include 
provisions about the advertising of gambling facilities.  

2.12 The Gambling Commission can be contacted at:

Gambling Commission 
Fourth Floor 
Victoria Square House 
Victoria Square 
Birmingham 
B2 4BP

Website:  www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk
Email: info@gamblingcommision.gov.uk 

Page 61

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
mailto:info@gamblingcommision.gov.uk


3. General Statement of Principles

3.1 The council recognises the wide variety of premises which will require a 
licence or a permit.  These include casinos, betting shops, bingo halls, pubs, 
clubs and amusement arcades.

3.2 In carrying out its licensing functions the council will have regard to any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission from time to time.

3.3 The council will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more readily dealt 
with under other legislation.  

3.4 To ensure the licensing objectives are met the council will establish a close 
working relationship with the police, the Gambling Commission and, where 
appropriate, other responsible authorities.

3.5 Where children, young persons and other vulnerable people are allowed 
access to premises where gambling takes place, the council may take 
whatever steps are considered necessary to either limit access generally or 
by introducing measures to prevent under-age gambling where it believes it is 
right to do so for the prevention of their physical, moral or psychological harm 
from gambling, especially where it receives representations to that effect.

3.6 Applicants seeking premises licences are encouraged to propose any 
prohibitions or restrictions of their own in circumstances where it is felt that 
the presence of children would be undesirable or inappropriate.

3.7 However, the overriding principle is that all applications and the 
circumstances prevailing at each premises will be considered on their own 
individual merits.  When applying these principles the licensing authority will 
consider, in the light of relevant representations, whether exceptions should 
be made in any particular case.  As with the Gambling Commission, the 
licensing authority will regulate gambling in the public interest.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder

3.8 The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling 
from being a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures 
that aim to prevent criminals from providing facilities for gambling.

3.9 Anyone applying to the council for a premises licence will have to hold an 
operating licence from the Commission before a licence can be issued.  
Therefore, the council will not generally be concerned with the suitability of an 
applicant and where concerns about a person’s suitability arise the council 
will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.  

3.10 If an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises 
which are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, the 
council will, in consultation with the police and other relevant authorities, 
consider whether specific controls need to be applied to prevent those 
premises from being a source of crime.  

3.11 There are already powers in existing anti-social behaviour and licensing 
legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it 
arises as a result of noise from a building or from general disturbance once 

Page 62



people have left a building.  The council does not intend to (and indeed, 
cannot) use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues, for example, 
parking problems, which can easily be dealt with using other powers.

3.12 Issues of disorder should only be dealt with under the Act if the disorder 
amounts to activity which is more serious and disruptive than mere nuisance 
and it can be shown that gambling is the source of that disorder.  A 
disturbance might be serious enough to constitute disorder if police 
assistance was required to deal with it.  Another factor which could be taken 
into account is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or 
hear it, and whether those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have 
business interests that might be affected.

3.13 When making decisions in this regard the council will give due weight to any 
comments made by the police.

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

3.14 The Gambling Commission does not generally expect local authorities to 
become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and 
open way as this will either be a matter for the management of the gambling 
business or will relate to the suitability and actions of an individual.  Both 
issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and 
personal licensing regime.

3.15 Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the 
Commission the council may, in certain circumstances, require conditions on 
a licence relating to the suitability of the environment in which betting takes 
place.

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling

3.16 Apart from one or two limited exceptions, the intention of the Act is that 
children and young persons should not be allowed to gamble and should 
therefore be prevented from entering gambling premises which are ‘adult-
only’ environments.

3.17 In practice, steps will generally be taken to prevent children from taking part 
in, or being in close proximity to, gambling especially with regard to premises 
situated in areas where there may be a high rate of reported truancy.  There 
may also be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are not 
aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly 
attractive to children.  In relation to casinos only, the Gambling Commission 
will be issuing a code of practice about access to casino premises for children 
and young persons.

3.18 When considering whether to grant a premises licence or permit the council 
will consider whether any measures are necessary to protect children, such 
as the supervision of entrances, the segregation of gambling from areas 
frequented by children and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult 
gambling specific premises, such as pubs, clubs, betting tracks etc.  

3.19 In seeking to protect vulnerable people the council will include people who 
gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, and 

Page 63



people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling, perhaps due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.    

3.20 Children (defined in the Act as under 16s) and young persons (16-17s) may 
take part in private and non-commercial betting and gaming but the Act 
contains a number of restrictions on the circumstances in which they may 
participate in gambling or be on premises where gambling is taking place. An 
adult is defined as 18 and over. In summary:

 betting shops cannot admit anyone under 18

 bingo clubs may admit those under 18 but must have policies to ensure 
they do not gamble, except on category D machines

 Adult Entertainment Centres cannot admit those under 18

 Family Entertainment Centres and premises with an alcohol premises 
licence such as pubs) can admit under-18s, but they may not play 
category C machines which are restricted to those over 18

 clubs with a Club Premises Certificate can admit under-18s, but they 
must have policies to ensure those under 18 do not play machines other 
than category D machines

 tracks will be required to have policies to ensure that under 18s do not 
participate in gambling other than on category D machines.

3.21 The council will always treat each case on its own individual merits and when 
considering whether specific measures are required to protect children and 
other vulnerable people will balance its considerations against the overall 
principle of aiming to permit the use of premises for gambling.

3.22 In January 2018 Public Health England, the Local Government 
Association and the Gambling Commission wrote to Directors of Public 
Health in England outlining the links between Public Health and 
gambling; specifically that problem gambling can have an impact on 
physical, mental and emotional health and wellbeing. The letter 
suggests that local Public Health teams have a critical role to play in 
developing licensing authorities’ Statement of Principles as they have a 
good understanding of health issues within a local authority area.

3.23 The council will work with the local Director of public health to develop 
a Local Area Profile for applicants to refer to when putting together their 
local risk assessments. The Local Area Profile shall be published on 
the council’s website. Officers will update the statistics and metrics of 
the Local Area Profile.

3.24 Also, whilst Local Public Health Departments are not Responsible Authorities 
the licensing authority will seek advice from the local Public Health team in 
order to assess the application. This approach will be taken to assist the 
licensing authority in exercising its own functions as a responsible authority.

Page 64



4. The Borough of Watford

4.1 Watford Borough Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which 
contains ten district councils in total.  The council area has a population of 
now 96,600 (mid-year estimate 2016) making it one of the smallest in the 
county in terms of population and one of the most densely populated in the 
country.

4.2 Watford Borough was granted a Royal Charter in 1922.  Traditionally a market 
town, it has developed into an attractive sub-regional shopping centre and 
important centre for cultural and recreational facilities.  Watford has a 
catchment area population of approximately 500,000 within a travel time of 20 
minutes from the town centre (CACI Ltd 2001).

4.3 Situated in the south west of Hertfordshire, Watford has several locational 
advantages due to its excellent communication links.  The M1 motorway, with 
direct links to the town centre, and the London to Glasgow railway pass 
through the Borough.   London Euston can be reached in 20 minutes, while 
the nearby M25 motorway has enhanced road access to the major airports at 
Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted and Luton.   

4.4 Watford has major A-road links to adjoining areas and is also connected to 
the underground rail network with the Metropolitan Line terminus adjacent to 
Cassiobury Park.  A branch line railway serves St. Albans Abbey. 

4.5 Watford Borough covers an area of 2,142 hectares (8.3 sq.  miles).  Watford 
is a major town in the region.   It is a sub-regional shopping destination, 
centered around the Intu Shopping Centre in the town centre, and has one of 
the most vibrant night-time economies in Hertfordshire. The Intu centre is 
currently being extended with work due to be finished in autumn 2018, along 
with associated High Street improvement works. Upgrading works to the Pond 
and surrounding area were completed in 2014. It was traditionally a centre for 
the printing industry and now boasts the headquarters of a number of 
nationally known firms.  Unemployment figures are well below Great Britain's 
average.  However there are pockets of deprivation, characterised by a high 
concentration of minority ethnic groups, single parent families, low income 
households and a high incidence of long term health problems.   

4.6 Potential operators should however refer to the District Plan and the emerging 
Local Development Framework (through our Development Control Team or 
on our website at www.watford.gov.uk) for details about the local planning 
authority’s approach to granting planning permission for developments where 
such activities may take place.   

4.7 Further information about the Borough is contained in the Watford Local Plan 
2006-2031 Part 1 Core Strategy which can be obtained from the Council’s 
offices or at:

 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20012/planning_and_building_control/135/pla
nning_policy

4.8 In September 2008 we launched a 24-hour strategy for the town centre 
(available on request), to take us to 2012.  Following public consultation, we 
began to tackle some key issues which are now being addressed.  In January 
2009 we launched our Cultural Study to remodel the town centre – particularly 

Page 65

http://www.watford.gov.uk/
http://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/download/61/adopted_local_plan_core_strategy
http://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/download/61/adopted_local_plan_core_strategy
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20012/planning_and_building_control/135/planning_policy
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20012/planning_and_building_control/135/planning_policy


The Parade – to act as a stimulating focal point for culture and heritage within 
the borough. The Cultural Plan saw physical improvements to the Pond and 
the Parade area and the creation of an events space.

4.9 The events space has seen events such as the Big Beach, the Big Screen 
and the Big Skate, and the Town Centre as a whole has hosted an ‘Imagine 
Watford’ Arts festival on a number of occasions. The council’s Community 
Section is working on a new 5 – 7 year Cultural Plan which is due to be 
launched in the autumn on 2018. The council is also working on a Town 
Centre Vision, which will build on the extension to the INTU centre and the 
associated improvement works underway to the High Street between 
Clarendon Road and Market Street. This Statement of Licensing Policy will be 
used to help deliver the Town Centre Vision and accordingly may need to be 
reviewed before its expiry in 2023 as the Vision develops. 

4.10 This approach and initiatives above led to us being awarded Purple Flag 
accreditation for our management with our partners of our town centre night-
time economy in September 2012. The Purple Flag accreditation was last 
renewed in 2018.

4.11 As of 6 April 2016, it is a mandatory condition for holders of operating 
licences to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk 
assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in 
the licensing authority’s statement of principles and reference the authority’s 
Local Area Profile where there is one.

4.12 It is not a requirement for licensing authorities to complete a Local Area 
Profile. However it is acknowledged that such profiles are a valuable tool in 
helping premises licence holders and applicants develop their local risk 
assessments. The council will work with the local Director of Public Health 
and the police to develop a Local Area Profile based on health data and other 
evidence. Whilst this is being developed we encourage operators to contact 
the licensing authority to consider and identify potential areas of mutual 
concern affecting their business in a way that aims to permit gambling without 
presenting risks to the licensing objectives, as required by the Gambling Act.   

4.13 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 
statement of the principles which they proposed to apply when exercising 
their functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  
The statement must also be reviewed from ‘time to time’ and any amended 
parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-published.

5. Responsible Authorities

5.1 These are generally public bodies that must be notified of all applications and 
who are entitled to make representations to the council if they are relevant to 
the licensing objectives.

Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as:

 the Gambling Commission

Page 66



 the Police

 the Fire Service

 a competent body to advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm

 the local planning authority

 Environmental Health

 HM Revenue and Customs

 A licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated (that is, the 
council itself and also any adjoining council where premises straddle the 
boundaries between the two).  

5.2 Also, whilst Local Public Health Departments are not Responsible 
Authorities the licensing authority will seek advice from the local Public 
Health team in in order to assess the application. This approach will be 
taken to assist the licensing authority in exercising its own functions as 
a responsible authority.

5.3 Any concerns expressed by a responsible authority in relation to their own 
functions cannot be taken into account unless they are relevant to the 
application itself and the licensing objectives. In this regard the council will not 
generally take into account representations which are deemed to be 
irrelevant, such as:

 there are too many gambling premises in the locality (because need for 
gambling facilities cannot be taken into account)

 the premises are likely to be a fire risk (because public safety is not a 
licensing objective)

 the location of the premises is likely to lead to traffic congestion 
(because this does not relate to the licensing objectives)

 the premises will cause crowds to congregate in one area causing noise 
and nuisance (because other powers are generally available to deal with 
these issues.  It should be noted that, unlike the Licensing Act 2003, the 
Gambling Act does not include as a specific licensing objective the 
prevention of public nuisance.  Any nuisance associated with gambling 
premises should be tackled under other relevant laws). 

Each representation will, however, be considered on its own individual merits.

5.4 Child protection

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are:

Page 67



 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole 
of the licensing authority’s area

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group etc

5.5 The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling Act 
2005 are available via the council’s website at www.watford.gov.uk.  

Page 68

http://www.watford.gov.uk/


6. Interested parties

6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation 
to an application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion 
of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the 
applications is made, the person -

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorities activities

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities, or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

6.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:

 each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a 
rigid rule to its decision making.  In the case of doubt, the benefit will be 
given to the party making the representation until the contrary can be 
shown.  

 interested parties can include trade associations, and residents’/tenants’ 
associations, providing that they can show they represent someone who 
would be classed as an interested party in their own right.  Councillors 
and MPs may also be interested parties.  Elected councillors may 
represent interested parties, providing they do not also sit on the 
Licensing sub-committee determining the application in question.  

 In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular 
premises as to likely to be affected by the authorised activities, or has 
business interests likely to be affected, the council may take account of:

- the size of the premises
- the nature of the premises
- the nature of the authorised activities being proposed 
- the distance of the premises from the person making the 

representation
- the characteristics of the complainant (including any special 

interests or knowledge relating to the application in question) 
- the potential impact of the premises

6.3 The licensing authority will not consider representations that are frivolous or 
vexatious, or which relate to demand or need for gambling facilities.  
Decisions on whether representations are frivolous or vexatious will be made 
objectively and not on the basis of any political judgement.  Where 
representations are rejected, the person making that representation will be 
given a written reason.  A report will be made to the licensing sub-committee 

Page 69



determining the application (if appropriate), indicating the general grounds of 
the representation and the reason it was rejected.  

6.4 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, 
without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice.  A 
frivolous representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in 
seriousness, or is unrelated to the licensing objectives, guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission or this statement of licensing policy.   

6.5 Interested parties should appreciate that moral objections to gambling, or the 
need for gambling premises, are not valid reasons to reject applications for 
premises licences.  

6.6 Representations should ideally:

 be made in writing (preferably in duplicate, unless submitted 
electronically)

 be in black ink on single sides of A4 paper

 indicate the name and address of the person or organisation making the 
representation

 indicate the premises to which the representation relates

 indicate the proximity of the premises to the person making the 
representation.  A sketch map or plan may be helpful to show this

 clearly set out the reasons for making the representation, and which 
objective it refers to.

Page 70



7. Exchange of Information

7.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statement the 
principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under 
sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information 
between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 
350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

7.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the General Data Protection 
Regulations will not be contravened.  The licensing authority will also have 
regard to Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities, 
as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the 
powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

7.3 The authority may from time to time exercise its’ powers under section 115 of 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to exchange data and information with the 
police and other partners to fulfil its’ statutory objective of reducing crime in 
the area.    

7.4 Details of applications and representations which are referred to a Licensing 
sub-Committee for determination will be published in reports that are made 
publicly available in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000.  Personal details of people making 
representations will be disclosed to applicants and only be withheld from 
publication on the grounds of personal safety where the licensing authority is 
asked to do so.  

Page 71



8. Compliance and Enforcement 

8.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 
to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified.

8.2 This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and it will endeavour to be:

 proportionate:  it  will only intervene when necessary, remedies will be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised

 accountable: with decisions being justifiable, and be subject to public 
scrutiny

 consistent:  rules and standards will be joined up and implemented fairly

 transparent and open:  licence conditions will be kept simple and user 
friendly;  and

 targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 
side effects.   

8.3 The licensing authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes.  
Where matters come to light which are properly the role of other statutory 
agencies however, the licensing authority may bring those matters to the 
attention of those other agencies where appropriate.    

8.4 The licensing authority notes the Commission’s risk-based inspection 
programme, based on:

 the licensing objectives

 relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission

 guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36 
of the Guidance to Local Authorities

 the principles set out in this statement of licensing policy.

8.5 The licensing authority has an established working partnership with the 
Gambling Commission, and undertakes risk-based inspections and 
compliance visits.

8.6 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which is authorises.  Enforcement 
involves taking formal action where either those requirements are not met or 
illegal activities take place. 

8.7 The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for operator and 
personal licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, 

Page 72



supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing 
authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.  

8.8 We have a long-established licensing enforcement policy based around the 
principles of consistency, transparency and proportionality set out in the 
Government’s statutory Regulators’ Compliance Code, which also takes into 
account the Attorney-General’s Guidelines to Crown Prosecutors for bringing 
prosecutions.  

8.9 Our Environmental Services enforcement policy proposes that a graduated 
response is taken where offences against licensing legislation are found or 
where licence conditions have been contravened.  An isolated and minor 
offence may be dealt with purely by way of a written warning whilst more 
serious offences which have either been committed over a period of time or 
which jeopardise public safety may result in a referral for prosecution.

8.10 We continue to work actively with other responsible authorities in enforcing 
licensing legislation.  We share information about licence-holders and 
licensed premises under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and expect to be 
closely consulted when any enforcement action may be required.  

8.11 As a council we have also signed up to the Hertfordshire Better Business for 
All Partnership Charter which is a voluntary undertaking between 
Hertfordshire Regulatory Services and all local businesses, irrespective of 
size or resources. It aims to support a relationship between businesses and 
regulators built upon trust, understanding and a desire to improve together in 
terms of compliance with regulation and support of business growth.

8.12 The authority’s approach to the carrying out of premises licence reviews is set 
out in chapter 17.

Page 73



PART B
PREMISES LICENCES

9. Definition of premises licences

9.1 Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”.  It is for the licensing authority 
to decide whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as 
being separate premises and it will always be a question of fact in the 
circumstances.  The Gambling Commission does not however consider that 
areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separate can be properly 
regarded as different premises.

9.2 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building or those for a 
specific part of the building to be licensed, entrances and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more licences should be separate and identifiable 
so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that 
people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.

9.3 This licensing authority will also pay particular attention to applications where 
access to the licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves 
may be licensed or unlicensed).

9.4 The licensing authority takes particular note of the Commission’s guidance to 
be aware of the following:

 the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being 
harmed by gambling, which means not only preventing them from 
being harmed by gambling and also from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Premises should be configured so that children are not 
invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating

 entrance to and exits from parts of buildings covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do 
not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.  In this context it should normally be 
possible to access the premises without going through another 
licensed premises or premises with a permit

 customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

9.5 The licensing authority will take account of the following factors when 
considering whether premises are separate:

 do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?

 is the premises neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 
by someone else?

 can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 
passageway?

Page 74



 can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 
premises?

9.6 The location of the premises and the suitability of the division (including the 
nature of any partitions etc) will be a matter for discussion in each case 
between the applicant and the licensing authority’s officers.

9.7 The licensing authority notes the Commission’s guidance at paragraphs 7.19 
– 7.23.  Where more than one premises licence is permitted within a building 
the gaming machine entitlement for the separately licensed premises may not 
be aggregated and no more than the permitted number and category of 
machines for the relevant type of premises may be placed in any one of the 
individual sets of premises within the building.  Section 152, when properly 
applied, means that different premises licences cannot apply in respect of 
single premises at different times.  There is no temporal element to a 
premises licence.  Therefore, premises cannot, for example, be licensed as a 
bingo club on weekdays and a betting shop at weekends.

Provisional Statements

9.8 In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the 
grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they 
concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  In 
addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence 
stage; or

 which is in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances.

9.9 The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are bought into use.  If the construction of a premises is not yet 
complete, or if they need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a 
right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional statement should 
be made instead. In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted 
where there are outstanding construction or alteration works at a  premises, 
this authority will determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage 
consideration process:

 first whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling

 second, whether appropriate conditions can be in place to cater for the 
situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to 
be before gambling takes place.

Page 75



9.10 Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence.  More detailed examples of the circumstances in which 
such a licence may be granted can be found at paragraphs 7.58 – 7.65 of the 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

Location

9.11 The licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered 
with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the 
licensing objectives can.  The authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.  

9.12 Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling 
premises should not be located, this policy statement will be updated.  It 
should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being 
made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon 
the applicant showing how the concerns can be overcome.  Reference should 
also be made to the local area risk assessment prepared by the operator.

Duplication with other regulatory regimes

9.13 This authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider 
whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning or building 
consent, in its consideration of it.  This authority will though listen to, and 
consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be 
met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

9.14 Under section 210 of the Act the licensing authority is not entitled to have 
regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be permitted in 
accordance with the law relating to planning or building.  The licensing 
authority will however consider relevant representations from the local 
planning authority about the effect of the grant of a premises licence on an 
extant planning permission where this relates to the licensing objectives, a 
Commission code of practice, or this statement of principles. 

Licensing objectives 

9.15 The grant of a Premises licences must be reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives.

Conditions 

9.16 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility

 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for

Page 76



 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and

 reasonable in all other respects. 

9.17 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case-by-case basis, 
although there will be a number of control measures this licensing authority 
may utilise should the authority consider it necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives, such as the use of machine and door supervisors, 
supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage for adult-only 
areas, staff training etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard 
under each of the licence types below.  This licensing authority will also 
expect the licence applicant to offer their own suggestions as to ways in 
which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

9.18 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

9.19 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach 
to premises licences:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to 
comply with an operating licence condition

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method 
of operation

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 
(the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership 
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it 
being reinstated) and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors 

9.20 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance for local authorities that 
licensing authorities may consider whether there is a need for door 
supervisors in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in 
terms of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.  

9.21 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 
supervisors for the protection of the public.  The licensing authority will make 
a door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history 
of trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised 
from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate.

Page 77



9.22 It is noted though that the Gambling Act 2005 has amended the Security 
Industry Act 2001 and that in-house door supervisors at casinos or bingo 
premises need not be licensed by the Security Industry Authority.  However, 
the licensing authority strongly recommends that any door supervisors or 
security staff who are employed should be licensed by the SIA.

Page 78



10. Adult Gaming Centres

10.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the 
premises.  Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 proof of age schemes

 CCTV

 supervision of entrances/ machine areas

 physical separation of areas

 location of entry

 notices/signage

 specific opening hours

 staff training 

 change machines

 advertising sources of help and other means of help for problem 
gamblers 

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

10.2 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

10.3 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this licensing authority will 
consider measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of 
information leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

Page 79



11. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

11.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machine areas.  Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues 
such as:

 proof of age schemes

 CCTV

 door supervisors

 supervision of entrances and/or machine areas

 physical separation of areas

 location of entry

 notices / signage

 specific opening hours

 staff training 

This list is not exhaustive.

11.2 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 
leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be 
considered in order to protect children and vulnerable persons.

11.3 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.

Page 80



12. Casinos

12.1 The licensing authority has passed a “no casino” resolution under section 166 
of the Act on * October 2018, to be in effect from 6 January 2019, on the 
basis that the town has a thriving and diverse night-time economy, presently 
centred around The Parade and primarily characterised by alcohol and food-
led premises.  Strategies are in place to reinvigorate The Parade through our 
Cultural Plan to end the dominance of alcohol-led premises and re-develop 
Charter Place to incorporate a multi-screen cinema and restaurants.   

Page 81



13. Bingo premises

13.1 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming and will be permitted in alcohol 
licensed premises and in clubs provided it remains below a certain threshold, 
otherwise it will be subject to a bingo operating licence which will have to be 
obtained from the Gambling Commission.

13.2 The holder of a bingo operating licence will be able to provide any type of 
bingo game including cash and prize bingo. 

13.3 Commercial bingo halls will require a bingo premises licence from the 
licensing authority.

13.4 Amusement arcades providing prize bingo will require a prize gaming permit 
from the council.

13.5 In each of the above cases it is important that where children are allowed to 
enter premises licensed for bingo, in whatever form, they are not allowed to 
participate in any bingo game, other than on category D machines. When 
considering applications of this type the council will therefore take into 
account, among other things, the location of the games or machines, access 
to those areas, general supervision of the premises and the display of 
appropriate notices.

13.6 A limited number of gaming machines may also be made available at bingo 
licensed premises.  Where category C or above machines are available in 
premises to which children are admitted, the licensing authority will seek to 
ensure that:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from 
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised

 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder and

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

13.7 The licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states:

18.5 Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be 
played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. 
An operator may choose to vary their licence to exclude a previously 
licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new premises 
licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating 
separate premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed 
premises within a single building or site. Before issuing additional bingo 

Page 82



premises licences, licensing authorities need to consider whether bingo 
can be played at each of those new premises.

18.7 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however 
they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C 
machines are made available for use these must be separated from 
areas where children and young people are allowed. Social 
Responsibility (SR) code 3.2.5(3) states that ‘licensees must ensure that 
their policies and procedures take account of the structure and layout of 
their gambling premises’ in order to prevent underage gambling.

18.9 The gaming machines must remain within the licensed area covered by 
the premises licence. In the unusual circumstance that an existing bingo 
premises covered by one premises licence applies to vary the licence 
and acquire additional bingo premises licences (so that the area that 
was the subject of a single licence will become divided between a 
number of separate licensed premises) it is not permissible for all of the 
gaming machines to which each of the licences brings an entitlement to 
be grouped together within one of the licensed premises.

18.10Equipment operated by a bingo operating licence for the purpose of 
playing bingo, for example what are currently known as mechanised 
cash bingo, electronic bingo terminal (EBTs) and video bingo terminals 
(VBTs), will be exempt from controls on gaming machines provided they 
comply with any conditions set by the Commission and, in the case of 
EBTs, do not hold gaming machine content.

18.11An EBT that offers gaming machine content in addition to bingo content 
is considered to be a gaming machine and would count towards the total 
number of gaming machines or towards the offering of bingo. Any EBTs 
that do not offer gaming machine content would not count towards the 
number of gaming machines.

13.8 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.

13.9 Operators’ attention is also drawn to paragraph 18.24 – 18.26 concerning 
primary gambling activity.  

Members’ clubs and commercial clubs

13.10 Bingo may be provided at clubs and institutes either in accordance with a 
permit or providing that the limits in section 275 of the Act are complied with.  
These restrictions limit the aggregate stake or prizes within any seven days to 
£2000, and require the Commission to be notified as soon as is reasonably 
practicable if that limit is breached.  Stakes or prizes above that limit will 
require a bingo operators licence and the corresponding personal and 
premises licences.  

Page 83



14. Betting premises

14.1 Anyone wishing to operate a betting office will require a betting premises 
licence from the licensing authority.  Children and young persons will not be 
able to enter premises with a betting premises licence.

14.2 The authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises 
within its area.  In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised 
and resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the 
authority a single named point of contact, who should be a senior individual, 
and whom the authority will contact first should any compliance queries or 
issues arise.

14.3 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door 
supervisors for the protection of the public.  The Authority will make a door 
supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of 
trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised 
from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate.

14.4 Betting premises will be able to provide a limited number of gaming machines 
and some betting machines.  

14.5 The licensing authority has the power to restrict the number of betting 
machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made 
available. We will take into account the size of the premises, the number of 
counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability 
of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it 
is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people.  It will not 
generally exercise this power though unless there are good reasons to do so 
taking into account, among other things, the size of the premises and the 
level of management and supervision especially where vulnerable people are 
concerned.

14.6 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions. 

14.7 Each application will be considered on its own individual merits.

Primary Gambling Activity

14.8 Operating licences issued by the Commission provides that gaming machines 
may be made available for use in licensed betting premises only at times 
where there are also sufficient facilities for betting available.

14.9 In this respect, such facilities must include information that enables customers 
to access details of events on which bets can be made, make such bets, 
learn the outcome and collect any winnings. Where betting facilities are 

Page 84



provided only by betting machines the number of betting machines must 
exceed the number of gaming machines made available for use.

14.10 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) sets out the full 
requirements on operators. To assist operators of betting premises the 
Commission has published a document setting out the indicators that are 
used to assess as to whether the requirements for betting being the primary 
gambling activity in any particular premises are being met.

14.11 Should the licensing authority receive an application to vary a premises 
licence for bingo or betting in order to extend the opening hours, the authority 
will satisfy itself that the reason for the application is in line with the 
requirements on primary gambling activity. (i.e. the need for operating licence 
holders to ensure that there are still sufficient facilities available to participate 
in the gambling activity appropriate to the licence type (‘the primary activity’ or 
‘the principal activity’) at those premises and not replaced by the making 
available of gaming machines). Therefore, the applicant should be able to 
demonstrate that the extension of the opening hours is not designed solely to 
benefit from the machine entitlement and activity which is ancillary to the 
primary activity of the premises, namely betting or bingo.

Page 85



15. Tracks

15.1 Only one premises licence can be issued for any particular premises at any 
time unless the premises is a ‘track’.  A track is a site where races or other 
sporting events take place.

15.2 Track operators are not required to hold an ‘operators licence’ granted by the 
Gambling Commission.  Therefore, premises licences for tracks, issued by 
the council are likely to contain requirements for premises licence holders 
about their responsibilities in relation to the proper conduct of betting.  Indeed, 
track operators will have an important role to play, for example in ensuring 
that betting areas are properly administered and supervised.

15.3 Although there will, primarily  be a betting premises licence for the track there 
may be a number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling activities 
to take place.  Unlike betting offices, a betting premises licence in respect of a 
track does not give an automatic entitlement to use gaming machines.

15.4 When considering whether to exercise its power to restrict the number of 
betting machines at a track the licensing authority will consider the 
circumstances of each individual application and, among other things will 
consider the potential space for the number of machines requested, the ability 
of track staff to supervise the machines, especially if they are scattered 
around the site, and the ability of the track operator to prevent children and 
young persons and vulnerable people betting on the machines.

15.5 This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission may provide 
further specific guidance as regards tracks.  We have taken note of the 
Guidance from the Gambling Commission which highlights that tracks are 
different from other premises in that there may be more than one premises 
licence in effect and that the track operator may not be required to hold an 
operator licence as there may be several premises licence holders at the 
track which will need to hold their own operator licences.

15.6 There may be some specific considerations with regard to the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling 
and this authority would expect the premises licence applicants to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 
adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, although they are still 
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category 
D machines) are provided.

15.7 Appropriate licence conditions may be:

 proof of age schemes

 CCTV

 supervision of entrances/machine areas

 physical separation of areas

Page 86



 location of entry

 notices/signage

 specific opening hours

 the location of gaming machines

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

15.8 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information 
leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be 
considered suitable in relation to the protection of children and vulnerable 
people.

15.9 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any 
mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations 
made by the Secretary of State.  The licensing authority will expect applicants 
to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed.  Applicants 
seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there 
will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority’s 
statement of principles by removing the default conditions.

15.10 This licensing authority notes the Commission’s view, that it would be 
preferable for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting 
operators on tracks to be the subject of separate premises licences.  This 
would ensure that there was clarity between the respective responsibilities of 
the track operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained 
unit on the premises.

Betting machines at tracks

15.11 Licensing authorities have a power under the Gambling Act 2005 to restrict 
the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which 
they are made available, by attaching a licence condition to a betting 
premises licence.  

Condition on rules being displayed

15.12 In line with guidance from the Gambling Commission the licensing authority 
will attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator 
to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, 
or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to 
the public, such as being could printed in the race-card or made available in 
leaflet form from the track office.

Page 87



16. Travelling Fairs

16.1 It will fall to the licensing authority to decide whether, where category D 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made 
available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities 
for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is 
met.

16.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair.

Page 88



17. Review of Premises Licences

17.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities.  

17.2 However, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the review is to be 
carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is 

 relevant to the matters listed below

 frivolous

 vexatious

 will certainly not cause this authority to alter, revoke or suspend the 
licence or 

 whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or 
requests for review

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and

 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy

17.3 Licensing authority officers may be involved in the initial investigations of 
complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute 
resolution before a full review is conducted.  The licensing authority may 
review premises licences of its own volition.  This may be on the grounds that 
a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises.  A referral to a Licensing sub-Committee of a set of premises for a 
review will be first approved by the Head of Community and Customer 
Services. 

17.4 The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate.  

17.5 This can extend to a review of a class of licences where it considers particular 
issues have arisen.  Reviews of a class of premises will be first agreed to by 
the Head of Community and Customer Services in consultation with the Chair 
of the Licensing (Licensing Act 2003) Committee.

17.6 The purpose of a review is to determine whether the licensing authority 
should take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified the 
licensing authority may:

 add, remove or amend a licence condition (other than a mandatory 
condition)

Page 89



 exclude or amend a default condition imposed by regulations
 suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months
 revoke the premises licence.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

17.7 In determining the appropriate course of action the licensing authority must 
have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act as well as any 
relevant representations.  

17.8 The Gambling Commission will be a responsible authority in premises licence 
reviews.  

Page 90



PART C
Permits, Temporary and Occasional Use Notices

18. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits
 
18.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 

category D machines only gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing 
authority for this permit.  It should be noted that under section 238 the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for 
making gaming machines available for use.  If they are also used for other 
purposes the application is likely to be refused.  

18.2 The Act states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles 
that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for 
a permit.  In preparing that statement, and/or considering applications, it need 
not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to 
any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 25 of the Act.  

18.3 Accordingly this licensing authority will also have regard to the licensing 
objectives when considering applications relating to unlicensed FEC permits.

18.4 An FEC gaming machine permit cannot be granted unless the chief officer of 
police has been consulted, and no conditions may be imposed upon the grant 
of a permit.  Therefore the licensing authority will wish to be satisfied as to the 
applicant’s suitability before granting a permit.  Unlicensed FECs, by 
definition, will not be subject to scrutiny by the Gambling Commission as no 
operating (or other) licences will be applied for and issued.  

Statement of principles

18.5 Applicants will be expected to show that there are policies and procedures in 
place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The 
efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their 
merits, however, they may include background checks on staff, training for 
staff in dealing with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, 
or children causing perceived problems on or around the premises.

18.6 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act)

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes; and

 an awareness of local school holiday times and how to identify to the 
local education authority should truants be identified.  

18.7 Compliance with any relevant industry Code of Practice for FECs issued by 
BACTA or other trade associations may be taken by the licensing authority as 

Page 91



evidence that (apart from the criteria relating to criminal convictions) the 
applicant has met the above.   

18.8 Applicants must submit with their application two copies of plans of the 
premises, to a scale of 1:100, showing the exits/entrances to the premises, 
location of gaming machines, and the location of safety equipment such as 
fire extinguishers.  

18.9 The licensing authority may refuse an application for renewal of a permit only 
on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer has been refused 
access to the premises without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not 
be reasonably consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives.

Page 92



19. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits

19.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing 
authority.  

19.2 Under section 284 the licensing authority can remove the automatic 
authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit 
of the licensing objectives

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the Gambling Act (ie, that written notice has been 
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that 
any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission 
about the location and operation of the machine has been complied 
with)

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the 
premises.

19.3 Should it be necessary to issue a section 284 order, the licence-holder will be 
given at least twenty-one days’ notice of the intention to make the order, and 
consider any representations which might be made.  The authority will hold a 
hearing if the licensee requests.  

19.4 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based 
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  and “such 
matters as they think relevant.” 

Statement of principles

19.5 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case 
by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not use the adult-only gaming 
machines.  The authority will take into account whether access by children to 
the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.   

19.6 Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may 
include the adult machines being in site of the bar, or in the sight of staff that 
will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices 
and signage may also be help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable 
persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

Page 93



19.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of 
gambling machines are to be provided.  This plan may take the form of an 
amendment to the plan attached to the premises licence issued under the 
Licensing Act 2003.  

19.8 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a 
premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application 
would need to be applied for, and dealt with as an adult entertainment centre 
premises licence.

19.9 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the 
application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be 
attached.

19.10 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit to must comply with any 
Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine.

Administrative matters

19.11 Notifications and applications for fewer than five machines shall be dealt with 
by the licensing authority’s officers.  

19.12 Applications for five or more machines will be referred to a licensing sub-
committee of councillors, unless there are no representations and officers are 
satisfied that the licensing objectives will be promoted. In these situations 
notifications and applications will be dealt with by the licensing authority’s 
officers.

Page 94



20. Prize Gaming Permits

20.1 The licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles which they 
propose to apply in exercising their functions which may, in particular, specify 
matters that the licensing authority propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit. 

20.2 Prize gaming may be provided in bingo premises as a consequence of their 
bingo operating licence.  Any type of prize gaming may be provided in adult 
gaming centres and licensed family entertainment centres.  Unlicensed family 
entertainment centres may offer equal chance prize gaming under a gaming 
machine permit.  Prize gaming without a permit may be provided by travelling 
fairs, providing that none of the gambling facilities at the fair amount to more 
than an ancillary amusement.  Children and young people may participate in 
equal chance gaming only.  

20.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 
does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance.  

Applicants should set out the types of gaming they are intending to offer and 
should be able to demonstrate: 

- that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out 
in Regulations

- and that the gaming offered is within the law.

20.4 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by 
which the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot 
attach conditions.  The conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 
complied with

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game 
must be played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; 
and the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the 
day that it is played

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set 
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-
monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling. 

20.5 Applications may only be made by people who occupy or plan to occupy the 
premises, are aged 18 or over (if an individual), and no premises licence or 
club gaming permit under the Gambling Act 2005 may be in force.  

Page 95



Statement of principles 

20.6 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case 
by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not have access to unequal 
chances prize gaming.  The authority will take into account whether access by 
children to the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.   

20.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of prize 
gaming is to be provided.   

Page 96



21. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

21.1 Members’ clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club gaming 
permit or a clubs gaming machines permit.  

21.2 The licensing authority notes paragraphs 25.44 – 25.49 of the Commission’s 
Guidance as to matters to take into account when determining that a club 
meets the statutory qualifying requirements.  These include the club’s 
constitution; the frequency of gaming; and ensuring that there are more than 
25 members.  The club must be conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes 
other than gaming, unless the gaming is in bridge and whist clubs covered by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State.  

21.3 The Commission advises that licensing authorities may only refuse 
applications on the grounds that:

 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not 
entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied 

 the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons

 an offence under the Act or a breach of the permit has been 
committed by the applicant whilst providing gaming facilities 

 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or 

 an objection has been raised by the Commission or by the police.  

Club gaming permit

21.4 A club gaming permit allows the premises to provide 

 up to three machines of categories B, C or D

 equal chance gaming and 

 games of chance as set out in regulations.  

Club gaming machine permit

21.5 A club gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide up to three 
machines of categories B, C or D.

21.6 The licensing authority will wish to be satisfied that applicants for these 
permits meet the statutory criteria for members’ clubs contained in sections 
266 and 267 of the Act.  Clubs which hold a club premises certificate under 
the Licensing Act 2003 are entitled to benefit from a fast-track application 
procedure.

Page 97



22. Temporary Use Notices

22.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence. 

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 
(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that temporary use notices 
may only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, 
where the gaming is intended to produce a single overall winner.  There can, 
however, be more than one competition with a single winner held at the 
individual event covered by a specific temporary use notice.  The facilities 
may not be provided in circumstances where any person participating in the 
gaming does so by means of a gaming machine.  Equal chance gaming is 
gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank and gives 
equally favourable chances to all participants.  Examples of equal chance 
gaming include games such as backgammon, mah-jong, rummy, kalooki, 
dominoes, cribbage, bingo and poker.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  
The meaning of “premises” in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities and at paragraph 
14.10 of the Guidance.  As with “premises”, the definition of a “set of 
premises” will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each 
notice that is given.  In the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  
In considering whether a place falls with the definition of a “set of premises”, 
the licensing authority need to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 

This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in place that could be described as 
one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

23. Occasional Use Notices

23.1 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices 
aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded.  The licensing authority will though need to consider the definition 
of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the 
notice.  

Page 98



24. Small Society Lotteries 

24.1 The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 
enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries.  This authority 
considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk 
status of an operator:

 submission of late returns (returns must be submitted within three months 
of the date that a lottery was drawn)

 submission of incomplete or incorrect forms

 breaches of the limits for small society lotteries.  

Page 99



Should you have any comments as regards this document please send them 
via e-mail or letter to:

Austen Young
Licensing Team
Community & Customer Services
Watford Borough Council
Town Hall
Watford
Hertfordshire
WD17 3EX

Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk

Page 100

mailto:licensing@watford.gov.uk


Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles 2019-2022

Consultation questions

First page

Under the above legislation, the council’s Statement of Principles (SOP) lays 
out the way it will promote the three licensing objectives: 

1. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder

2. Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

3. Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling

Section 3 of the SOP outlines the council’s General Statement of Principles

Local Public Health teams are well placed to understand the physical, mental and 
emotional health and wellbeing impact that problem gambling can have on 
individuals and their families. They can therefore contribute to promoting the 
licensing objective relating to the protection of children and other vulnerable people 
from gambling

The council wishes to strengthen links with the local Director of Public Health as 
proposed in sections 3.22 to 3.24 of the draft Statement of Principles.

Q.1 Do you agree with the proposals to strengthen links between the council as 
licensing authority and the local Director of Public Health, in order to further 
promote the licensing objection relating to the protection of children and other 
vulnerable people from gambling?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 4 of the SOP outlines the characteristics of the Borough 

It is designed to assist premises licence holders and applicants with their local risk 
assessment. The local risk assessment details the measures premises licence 
holders will take to promote the licensing objectives.

As laid out in sections 4.11 and 4.12 of the SOP, the council proposes to work with 
the local Director of Public Health, the police and other partners and agencies to 
develop a Local Area Profile, using health data and other data. 

Q.2 Do you agree with the proposal to develop a Local Area Profile?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 5 deals with Responsible Authorities

Page 101



Responsible Authorities must be notified of all applications and are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as:

 the Gambling Commission
 the Police
 the Fire Service
 a competent body to advise the authority about the protection of children from 

harm (typically the local safeguarding Board)
 the local planning authority
 Environmental Health
 HM Revenue and Customs
 The licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated 

Whilst the Local Director of Public Health is not a Responsible Authority the council 
believes involving the local Public Health will help promote the licensing objectives 
and proposes to consult the Director of Public Health on premises licences 
applications. 

Q.3 Do you agree with the proposal to consult the Director of Public Health on 
premises licences applications?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 6 of the SOP outlines the approach that the council takes when dealing 
with Interested Parties and representations.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Q.4 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the way the council 
deals with Interested Parties and representations?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 7 of the SOP outlines the approach that the council takes when 
exchanging information with the Gambling Commission, the police and other 
partners.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Q.5 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the way the council 
exchanges information?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 8 of the SOP outlines the approach that the council takes to 
enforcement.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Page 102



Q.6 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the approach that the council 
takes to enforcement?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 9 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with premises licences.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Q.7 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the way that the council deals 
with premises licences?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 10 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Adult Gaming 
Centres.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Q.8 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the way that the council deals 
with Adult Gaming Centres?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 11 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Licensed Family 
Entertainment Centres.

It is not proposed to change this section as part of the review.

Q.9 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the way that the council deals 
with Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 12 of the SOP outlines the council’s approach to casinos.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.10 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
casinos?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 13 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with bingo premises.

Page 103



It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.11 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
bingo premises?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 14 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with betting premises.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.12 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
betting premises?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 15 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with tracks.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.13 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
tracks?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 16 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with travelling fairs.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.14 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
travelling fairs?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 17 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with premises licence 
reviews.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.15 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
premises licence reviews?

Yes
No
Not sure

Page 104



Section 18 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.16 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 19 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with gaming machine 
permits in (Alcohol) Licensed premises.

Currently, notifications and applications for fewer than five machines are dealt with by 
the licensing authority’s officers, and applications for five or more machines are 
referred to a licensing sub-committee of councillors.

It is officers’ experience that some applications for five or more gaming machine 
permits in (alcohol) licensed premises contain sufficient controls and proposed 
conditions to promote the licensing objectives. The current policy means that in these 
situations, even if no representations are received and all parties agree, a licensing 
sub-committee must be convened to determine the application.

It is proposed to replace the current 19.11 of the policy with the following sections: 

19.11 Notifications and applications for fewer than five machines shall be dealt with 
by the licensing authority’s officers.  

19.12 Applications for five or more machines will be referred to a licensing sub-
committee of councillors, unless there are no representations and officers are 
satisfied that the licensing objectives will be promoted. In these situations 
notifications and applications will be dealt with by the licensing authority’s 
officers.

Q.17 Do you agree with the proposal to Change the council’s approach to gaming 
machine permits in (alcohol) licensed premises?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 20 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Prize Gaming 
Permits.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.18 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Gaming Permits?

Yes
No
Not sure

Page 105



Section 21 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Club Gaming and 
Club Machine Permits.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.19 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 22 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Temporary Use 
Notices.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.20 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Temporary Use Notices?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 23 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Occasional Use 
Notices.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.21 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Occasional Use Notices?

Yes
No
Not sure

Section 23 of the SOP outlines how the council deals with Small Society 
Lotteries.

It is not proposed to change this approach as part of the review.

Q.22 Do you agree with the proposal NOT to change the council’s approach to 
Small Society Lotteries?

Yes
No
Not sure

Page 106



    
 

 

 

To: Directors of Public Health 

English local authorities 

 
January 2018 

 

 

Dear Director of Public Health 

 

Public Health and gambling  

 

We are writing to ensure you are aware that local licensing authorities are required to review 

their Statement of Gambling Policy soon, and to encourage you to support them in this 

process.  

 

The statement is a key tool that licensing authorities can use to seek to protect their 

residents from the negative impacts associated with problem gambling. These are wide 

ranging and can impact on individuals and their families and carer’s physical, mental and 

emotional health and wellbeing, as well as having a wider impact on society through crime 

and disorder, debt, domestic violence and lost productivity. 

 

Licensing authorities should be consulting on their statements in 2018 with a view to revised 

versions being published by the deadline of January 2019. Whilst, unlike the Licensing Act 

2003, Public Health is not a responsible authority under the Gambling Act 2005, this does 

not prevent Public Health’s engagement. We believe that Public Health can play a critical 

role in this strategic review and assist licensing authorities in developing a Statement which 

maximises the protections available to citizens as well as the broader wellbeing of the 

community.  

 

Additionally, it is worthwhile noting that one of the licensing objectives in the Act is the 

protection of the young and vulnerable from (gambling) harm. The list of responsible 

authorities on the face of the Act includes an agency who has functions in respect of 

minimising or preventing ‘harm to human health’ (which is a very wide definition of their 

areas of responsibility). Another responsible authority, one concerned with the ‘protection of 

children from harm’, is normally the Safeguarding Board. 

 

Public Health teams are likely to have a better understanding of the range of health issues 
within an LA and how they interrelate and where they are concentrated, which can help 
licensing authorities: 
 

 Identify and interpret health data and evidence to inform the review of the Statement 
and develop locally tailored local area profiles. 

 Make decisions that benefit and protect the health and wellbeing of local 
communities. 
 

Page 107



    
 
 

 Be clear on issues which they can have regard to when deciding on licenses for a 
wide range of gambling activities. 

 Identify and interpret health data and evidence to inform the review of the Statement; 

 Conduct a health-impact assessment of gambling in the local area or assess any 

existing information. 

 

Importantly it is not being suggested that public health devote resources to the treatment of 

problem gamblers. Rather they are able, through frontline services, to ensure staff are aware 

of the issue, recognise the overlaps with individuals they are already coming into contact 

with and have the systems in place to offer referral to existing accredited providers. 

 

More broadly, the Gambling Commission, LGA, WLGA and PHE are keen to support Public 

Health teams in this wider engagement on problem gambling, disseminating good practice 

and discussing how best to develop a dialogue for the future.  

 

We hope that you will be able to support your local licensing authorities in this work. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

         

  

 

Tim Miller   Cllr Izzy Seccombe  Rosanna O’Connor 

Executive Director  Chairman   Director – Alcohol, Drugs and 

Gambling Commission LGA Community and  Tobacco 

    Wellbeing Board  Public Health England 

 

  

Page 108



    
 
 
Background information 
Problem gambling is less visible than other addictions such as alcohol and drugs but it is: 

 associated with a range of other addictions and health related issues1. It is 

important that a gambling related problem is diagnosed and treated at the same 

time as other issues.   

  also likely to affect not just the individuals concerns but those around them, 

whether that’s the family who find themselves without enough money for the 

week’s essentials or the partner who suffers abuse     

    

Evidence indicates that particular groups are more vulnerable to gambling related harm than 

others. Examples include those with mental health issues, homeless people, those with 

other addictive behaviours, those in areas of multiple deprivation and immigrants.2  (This is 

not a comprehensive list.) 

 

Research in Leeds3 discovered the following: 

 At least 13 relevant Leeds services able to provide some advice and guidance on 

problem gambling including generic services (e.g. Citizens Advice) , targeted support 

groups,  specialist addictions and recovery services   

 But there was a lack of join-up on ‘gambling related support’ which contrasts with 

strong integration of support/referrals networks across other vulnerable group needs 

in Leeds. 

 Support services see clients affected by gambling related harm –often ‘co-morbid’ 

with other challenges (e.g. alcohol or drug addiction) and recovery support 

 Universally lack any screening or assessment tools for gambling-related harm. Rare 

for clients to self-declare. 

 

In Brighton and Hove4 Public Health contributed significantly in the development of a Local 

Area Profile, or heat map, to identify social groups and geographic locations where gambling 

risk/vulnerability is greatest.   
 

In Tower Hamlets5 the Public Health team intervened in the previous consultation on their 

Statement, recognising the following as a part of their submission: 

 

 

                                                           
1
 http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/addiction/Pages/gamblingaddiction.aspx 

 
2
 https://www.geofutures.com/research/gambling/ 

 
3
 http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Problem%20Gambling.pdf 

 
4
 See case studies page - http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-

authority-bulletin-March-2017.pdf 
 
5
 http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/Documents/Public-Health/JSNA/Gambling_fact_sheet_2016.pdf 

 

Page 109

http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/addiction/Pages/gamblingaddiction.aspx
https://www.geofutures.com/research/gambling/
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/docs/Problem%20Gambling.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-March-2017.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-March-2017.pdf
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/Documents/Public-Health/JSNA/Gambling_fact_sheet_2016.pdf


    
 

 

‘For health and social care professionals, and even the family and friends of at risk or 

problem gamblers, the challenge of problem gambling is that it is not easily 

detectable. It is often described as the ‘hidden addiction’. Problem gamblers are far 

more likely to present with financial, health and relationship issues before an 

addiction to problem gambling is recognized.’    

 

In Doncaster6 the Public Health team intervened over plans to open a new betting shop 

stating: 

Problem gambling not only has a detrimental impact on the health of the individual 

involved but also on family and friends and is likely to increase the demand for 

(health) services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

                                                           
6
 http://planning.doncaster.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Appeal&previousKeyVal=OQX9GTFX0B200&activeTa

b=summary&previousCaseNumber=17%2F00014%2FREF&keyVal=OH6YQMFX0A200 

 

Page 110

http://planning.doncaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Appeal&previousKeyVal=OQX9GTFX0B200&activeTab=summary&previousCaseNumber=17%2F00014%2FREF&keyVal=OH6YQMFX0A200
http://planning.doncaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Appeal&previousKeyVal=OQX9GTFX0B200&activeTab=summary&previousCaseNumber=17%2F00014%2FREF&keyVal=OH6YQMFX0A200
http://planning.doncaster.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Appeal&previousKeyVal=OQX9GTFX0B200&activeTab=summary&previousCaseNumber=17%2F00014%2FREF&keyVal=OH6YQMFX0A200


Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-Ordinating Group

Developing a proportionate shared
approach to reducing harm from problem
gambling: for discussion
Jim McManus, Director of Public Health
28th March 2018

1. Purpose of paper and summary

1.1 To outline for discussion a proportionate approach to preventing problem 
gambling and its impact on local authority, health and other services.
 

1.2 Thanks are due to colleagues from the Money Advice Unit and County 
Community Safety Unit for their help in developing this paper.

1.3 There is an opportunity to take some action on reducing and preventing 
problem gambling at little or no cost. Anecdotal evidence suggests 
problem gambling is adding to the burden of service demand and any 
action will seek to establish whether and to what extent this is the case.

2. Decisions required
2.1To note contents, discuss approach and agree next steps

3. Background
3.1The impact of problem gambling is distributed across a range of services, 

as are the responsibilities for addressing it.  The harms are various 
including debt, mental ill-health and crime. There is little concrete evidence 
for the size and shape of Hertfordshire’s problem but evidence of some 
need.

3.2While it is likely there is preventable demand on public services as a result 
of problem gambling, and some support from data for this, it is important to 
avoid creating a need for a service where none exists.

3.3A report for the Gambling Commission developed by the National Centre 
for Social and Economic Research1 analysed available data and 
concluded that more than 2 million people in the UK are either problem 
gamblers or at risk of addiction, according to the industry regulator, which 
warned that the government and industry were not doing enough to tackle 
the problem.

3.4Based on these national estimates, 25,300 people in Hertfordshire are at 
risk of problems with gambling, and 6000 currently experience problems 
which impact on their lives and potentially public services. Younger people 
are at higher likelihood of being at-risk or problem gamblers.

1 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-
2015.pdf 

Page 111

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf


Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

At-risk gambling
3.5At-risk gambling was measured using the Problem Gambling Severity 

Index (PGSI). This identifies people who are at risk of problems related to 
their gambling behaviour but who are not classified as problem gamblers. 
Overall, 3.9% of adults had a PGSI score which categorised them as at-
risk gamblers, or around 25,300 adults aged 16 or over in Hertfordshire. 
Problem gambling

3.6Problem gambling is gambling to a degree that compromises, disrupts or 
damages family, personal or recreational pursuits. Estimates of problem 
gambling are provided according to two different measurement 
instruments, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV 
(DSM-IV) and the PGSI.

3.7Problem gambling prevalence measured by either the DSM-IV or the PGSI 
was 0.8%, with men being more likely than women to be classified as 
problem gamblers (1.5% and 0.2% respectively). This is around 6000 
people in Hertfordshire.

3.7.1 The highest rates of problem gambling were among those who 
had participated in spread betting (20.1%), betting via a betting 
exchange (16.2%), playing poker in pubs or clubs (15.9%), betting 
offline on events other than sports or horse or dog racing (15.5%) 
and playing machines in bookmakers (11.5%).

3.8The report estimated that the number of British over-16s deemed to be 
problem gamblers had grown by a third in the three years to 2015.  It also 
found evidence of an increase in addiction among those playing fixed-odds 
betting terminals (FOBTs).

4. Policy framework and opportunities for action
4.1There is an opportunity to take some proportionate action by licensing 

authorities (District and Borough Councils) with Public Health and others to 
revise their statements of gambling policy in line with emerging good 
practice, and take actions and positions which, at no cost, can prevent 
harm from gambling while still allowing gambling for those who wish to 
enjoy it.

4.2The Gambling Commission wrote to Directors of Public Health in January 
20182 asking them to work with Authorities for the purposes of the 
Gambling Act 2005 (District and Borough Councils) to consider what can 
be done when authorities revise the Statement of Gambling Policy. A 
public health and safeguarding “toolkit” was released by the Commission 
in February to support authorities working together3.

4.3The Gambling Act 2005 makes District Councils responsible for such 
policy statements in respect of their functions as licensing authorities.  
Licensing authorities (i.e. Districts) will be required to review their 
Statement of Gambling Policy (the Statement), scheduled for consultation 
in 2018 with a view to a revised version being published in January 2019. 

2 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/public-health-and-gambling-joint-letter-jan-2018.pdf 
3 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Public-
health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx 

Page 112

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/public-health-and-gambling-joint-letter-jan-2018.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Public-health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Public-health-and-Safeguarding-toolkit.aspx


Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

4.4There is a list of actions from the Gambling Commission and other bodies 
being compiled currently which can be taken to reduce gambling harm by 
authorities including restrictions on fixed term betting machines.  In March 
2018 the Gambling Commission provided formal advice to support the 
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) with its current 
review of gaming machines and social responsibility measures4. 

4.52. At the heart of our thinking is an aim to reduce the risks that consumers, 
especially those that are vulnerable, face from gambling. We think that 
action – from government, the Gambling Commission and operators – is 
needed to achieve that aim.

4.6Public Health Authorities (i.e. the County Council ) are not responsible 
authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 though they are under the 
Licensing Act 2003.The Gambling Commission is asking Public Health 
Directors to engage with responsible authorities for Gambling to reduce 
the burden of Problem gambling.

4.7One of the licensing objectives in the Gambling Act is the protection of 
young and vulnerable people from (gambling) harm. The list of responsible 
authorities for the Act includes any agency who has functions in respect of 
minimising or preventing ‘harm to human health’ (which is a very wide 
definition of their areas of responsibility). There are links to the 
Safeguarding Boards in addition to District Councils.

4.8The network of response services to Gambling in Hertfordshire is not as 
co-ordinated as it might be. There is some County Council service 
commissioning and some NHS psychiatric provision, and voluntary 
provision. There are various services doing various pieces of work. It 
would be useful to explore whether 

4.8.1 some controls and licensing actions could be taken by District 
Councils at little or no cost. 

4.8.2 some controls and actions could be taken by other partners like 
the County Council at little or no cost.

4.9The Gambling Commission, in their January 2018 letter to all local 
authorities, say that Public Health teams are likely to have a good 
understanding of the range of health issues within an LA and how they 
interrelate and where they are concentrated, which can help the licensing 
authorities:

1) make decisions that benefit and protect the health and wellbeing 
of local communities;

2) Be clear on issues which they can have regard to when deciding 
on licenses for a wide range of gambling activities

3) Identify and interpret health data and evidence to inform the 
review of the Statement;

4) conduct a health-impact assessment of gambling in the local 
area or assess any existing information. 

4.4 It is proposed by the Gambling Commission that working through frontline 
services, staff across agencies are aware of the issue and have the 

4 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/Review-of-gaming-machines-and-social-
responsibility-measures-–-formal-advice.pdf

Page 113

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/Review-of-gaming-machines-and-social-responsibility-measures-%E2%80%93-formal-advice.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/Review-of-gaming-machines-and-social-responsibility-measures-%E2%80%93-formal-advice.pdf


Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

systems in place to offer referral to existing accredited providers. 
(Gamcare and BeGamble Aware being the first point of contact.)     

4.5The advantages of having a clear, proportionate, co-ordinated approach in 
Hertfordshire based on clear understanding of each actor’s responsibilities 
are that we can prevent some people getting into difficulties, develop a co-
ordinated approach making best use of existing resources and prevent the 
County Council facing further commissioning demands.

4.6Members of CECG are asked to consider what would be desirable in any 
action going forward, in order to develop a shared approach to preventing 
and addressing problem gambling.

5. Outcome(s) to be achieved 
5.1It is important to avoid creating a demand for services where none exists, 

or creating a workstream where it isn’t needed. Equally, there are some 
things which can be achieved at no cost which will have a preventive 
impact.

5.2The benefits to be derived from this work are 

 a shared understanding of what actions can and should proportionately 
be taken to identify reduce harm to people, and cost to the public 
purse.

 A shared understanding of what we can do in our policies to reduce 
and prevent harm from gambling

6.  Financial Implications
6.1 It is intended to achieve this through existing resources

Page 114



Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

Appendix: a headline briefing on problem gambling impact
Available information, mostly anecdotal, from services suggests that the 
impact of problem gambling is causing mental health services, childrens’ 
services and adult social care preventable demand as well as impacting 
adversely on peoples’ health. 

 Problem gambling is associated with a range of other addictions and 
health related issues5. It is important that a gambling related problem is 
diagnosed and treated at the same time as other issues.  

 Problem gambling affects not just the individuals concerns but those 
around them, whether that’s the family who find themselves without 
enough money for the week’s essentials or the partner who suffers abuse  

 Evidence indicates that particular groups are much more vulnerable to 
gambling related harm than others. Examples include those with mental 
health issues, homeless people, those with other addictive behaviours, 
those in areas of multiple deprivation and immigrants.6  (This is not a 
comprehensive list.)

Evidence of a widespread and numerically large problem at population level in 
Hertfordshire is largely due to lack of consistent collection of data and a 
picture. But while a picture is being developed, there are some actions which 
can be taken at no cost to prevent or reduce current harm, and which can be 
mapped. Data from national epidemiological surveys showed that 62.2%of 
people gambled in 2015 and 0.9% of people in England identified as problem 
gamblers wheras 3.9%of people in England were at moderate risk of 
developing problems with their gambling.

Anecdotal evidence from health professionals, Citizens’ Advice Bureaux and 
Money Advice Unit suggests this is a significant issue but there is little data to 
support this because it is rarely collected in a way which flags gambling.

What intelligence does exist shows gambling is a potentially reducible or 
preventable demand on public services. While there is limited data, there are 
indications that Hertfordshire has a demand for services for gambling. 
Citizens’ Advice Bureaux report anecdotally a significant increase in debt 
where gambling is an issue. Figures are currently awaited.

The County Council, with Public Health leading, are co-commissioning (with 
Mental Health and Community Wellbeing) a service in Hertfordshire provided 
by The Living Room which offers a peer led abstinence based structured 
programme to work with behavioural addictions which includes Gambling. The 
service began in October 2016. Currently 21 people are in treatment for 
gambling addiction with this service, making up 15% of the 140 people in 
treatment for behavioural addictions with this provider. This is likely to be a 
significant underestimate of need. 
Anecdotal evidence suggests that crime and anti-social behaviour around 
betting shops is problematic. However, an analysis of crime and anti social 

5 http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/addiction/Pages/gamblingaddiction.aspx

6 https://www.geofutures.com/research/gambling/

Page 115

http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/addiction/Pages/gamblingaddiction.aspx
https://www.geofutures.com/research/gambling/


Hertfordshire Chief Executives’ Co-ordinating Group
A shared approach to reducing harm from problem gambling March 2018

behaviour around betting shops in Stevenage was undertaken.  During the 2 
year period November 2014 to October 2016 there were 66 incidents of Anti 
Social Behaviour around betting shops and 14 crimes. The crimes are shown 
in the table below. This suggests that crime and anti-social behaviour is not a 
major issue around betting shops, though those small numbers of crimes 
which do occur may tend to be more serious.

Offence description Count
ASSAULT-OCCASIONING ABH 4
DAMAGE OR DESTROY $5000 OR LESS NON DWELLING 2
THEFT-NOT OTHERWISE CODED 2
THEFT-NOT OTHERWISE CODED 1
DAMAGE OR DESTROY £5000 OR LESS OTHER 1
HARASSMENT-BREACH OF RESTRAINING ORDER S5(5) 1
SEX-SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A FEMALE 1
THEFT-BY EMPLOYEE 1
THEFT-FROM THE PERSON OF ANOTHER 1
Grand Total 14

The impact of problem gambling is distributed across a range of services, as 
are the responsibilities. The main responsibilities can be listed as follows:

 The Gambling Act 2005 makes District Councils responsible in respect 
of their functions as licensing authorities. 

 The NHS commissions mental health services, 

 County Council and Districts commission various forms of money and 
debt advice

 Childrens’ Services will be involved in safeguarding and providing 
support to families

The network of response services to Gambling in Hertfordshire is not co-
ordinated. The NHS is responsible for treatment of gambling addiction and 
there are various services doing various pieces of work. Some controls and 
licensing actions could be taken by District Councils at little or minimal cost.
The Gambling Industry and bodies funded by it such as the Responsible 
Gambling Trust are advocating for Public Health to have responsibility to 
commission treatment services.  The national position of the Association of 
Directors of Public Health and Public Health England is that the industry 
should pay towards the impact of problems it causes, but that commissioning 
services for gambling addiction is the responsibility of the NHS.

Page 116



Gambling Statement of Policy 
2019-2022

Page 117



When and how

• Review and publish 3 years irrespective of interim 
changes (s349)

• Publish 3 January 2019 at latest.  In force by 31 Jan 
2019

• Recently updated your policy – shorter consultation?
oCabinet Office consultation principles guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-
guidance

• NB :TRACK CHANGES

Page 118



Why does it matter

• s153 – one of the 4 matters to consider for licensing, 
compliance and enforcement

• Sets out your expectation of operators – you can refer 
back to it in the event of issues arising

• It makes matters clear for responsible authorities and 
citizens

• It can encourage improved engagement with agencies 
who have a vested interest in the young and vulnerable

Page 119



Issues to consider - LRAs

• Less than half LAs included information about local risk 
assessments (LRA) in their 2016-2019  SOP

• Lose your local power of redress if don’t set out your LRA 
expectations

• Risk  - future not just current risk

• Don’t need to have an area profile to set expectations 

• Don’t reinvent the wheel 

NB LRA to be kept on the premises and ask to see it when visit

Page 120



LRA expectations (1)

The council will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a 
minimum: 

• the location of services for children such as schools, 
playgrounds, leisure/community centres and other areas where 
children will gather; 

• the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups; 

• whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of 
crime and/or disorder. 

• Local risk assessments should show how vulnerable people, 
including people with gambling dependencies are protected.”

Page 121



LRA expectations (2)

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and 
incidences of underage gambling,

• Gaming trends that may reflect benefit payments

• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding 
self-exclusions and gaming trends.

• Urban setting such as proximity to schools, commercial 
environment, factors affecting footfall,

• Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as 
other gambling outlets, banks, post offices, refreshment and 
entertainment type facilities

• Known problems in the area such as problems arising from 
street drinkers, youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug 
dealing activities, etc.

Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including;

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and 
incidences of underage gambling,

• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such 
as pay days or benefit payments

• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding 
self-exclusions and gaming trends.

• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable 
people such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical 
facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing offices, addiction 
clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant 
people may congregate, etc.

• Matters relating to children and young persons, including;

• Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and 
young persons should be expected such as schools, youth 
clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues such as 
bowling allies, cinemas etc.

• Any premises where children congregate including bus 
stops, café’s, shops, and any other place where children are 
attracted,

• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-
social behaviour, including such activities as graffiti/tagging, 
underage drinking, etc.

• Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling.

Other issues that may be considered could include:

• Matters of faith, including all religious or faith denominations 
including proximity to churches, mosques, temples or any 
other place of worship.

Page 122



Issues to consider – Local Area Profiles

• Optional 

• Proportionate

• Use existing council reports/data 

• Data from other bodies eg https://about.gambleaware.org/

• Stand alone document

Page 123



LAP - Map approach

• local education facilities 

• addiction centres

• drug/alcohol/gambling 
treatment centres 

• community centres 

• vulnerable groups

• gambling premises

• crime hot spots

• ethnic groups

• supported 
accommodation/hostels

• doctors’ surgeries 

• places of worship

• areas of multiple deprivation

• ASB figures

• play areas

• those seeking job seekers 
allowance 

Page 124



LAP – More detailed profiles

• Leeds – interactive profile maps

https://leedscc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapTools/index.html?appid=569aab2
acaac411ba9f8a6868f71ac1f

• Great Yarmouth  detailed area profile 

https://www.great-yarmouth.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=1633&p=0

• Manchester - Detailed Geofutures mapping tool 
http://www.manchester.gov.uk/info/200063/licences_and_permissions/153
2/gambling_premise_licences/6

• Warrington – detailed spatial analysis (adapting Geofutures model)

https://www.warrington.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/10861/gambling_loca
l_area_profile_project.pdf

• Brighton & Hove – Excel profile and tool, linking in with public heath

https://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/business-and-trade/licensing-and-
gambling

Page 125



Issues to consider – Public Health

• Public health not a responsible authority BUT…….
o “The LA will consult Director of PH on all premises licences 

applications”  (Knowsley gambling SOP)

• Letter to Directors of Public Health (early 2018)

• Information note about public health  

• Start conversations with your PH teams

• Look at what other LAs have done

Page 126



Issues to consider – Safeguarding

• Examples :
oSheffield – LBO report re 2 young girls 
oBlackpool – grooming report AGC 
oYorkshire yp and LBO 

• Sheffield – safeguarding toolkit

• Shropshire - appendix regarding child sexual exploitation 
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/licensing/licensing-news/gambling-act-policy-statement-2016-19

• Royal Borough Kensington & Chelsea – page 10 re CSE
https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/atoms/files/Gambling%20Policy%202016-
2019%20%20final%20%28V2%29.pdf

• Scarborough – page 28 re truanting and uFECs
https://democracy.scarborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Gambling%20Licensing%20P
olicy%202016-2019&ID=1334&RPID=5504086&sch=doc&cat=12950&path=551%2C12950

Page 127



Issues to consider – Police engagement

• Letter to police licensing officers

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-
toolkit/Statement-of-principles/Statement-of-principles-for-licensing-authorities.aspx

• Data to inform SOPs /LAPs

oEg West Yorkshire https://www.police.uk/west-yorkshire/BDT_CI/crime/

• Cheshire pilot – problem gambling in criminal justice system

http://www.gamcare.org.uk/sites/default/files/file_attach/HOWARD%20LEAGUE%20WINNER%2
0CRIMINAL%20JUSTICE%20BROCHURE.pdf

• Police powers of inspection information note and Money laundering 
information note

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-
toolkit/Crime-and-joint-working.aspx

• Betwatch toolkit – available in early part 2018

Page 128



Issues to consider – uFECs

• Examples in statements of principles 

oStaff supervision and training 

oDetailed plan 

oSocial responsibility policies 

oStaff easily identifiable 

oClear signage

Reminder

ouFEC 10 year permits up for renewal from 2017 onwards

ouFEC  - premises which are ‘wholly or mainly’ used for making gaming 
machines available (not shopping centres/airports) 

oNo direct access from uFEC to AGC 

Page 129



Issues to consider – enforcement 

• “We don’t get any complaints so why does it matter”?

• The problem gambler, the U18, the illegal card club player 
unlikely to phone and complain!

• Regulation starts when you issue the premises licence, you then 
need to ensure the operator is compliant

• Only through inspection and compliance do you find out if licence 
conditions are being met and protections are in place

• Fees – income v expenditure

• Penalises compliant operators

• Could you produce a report for your Licensing Committee on the 
level of gambling compliance in your area?

Page 130



LA annual returns 2016-17

• 131 out of 380 LAs didn’t conduct any visits during the 
year (down from 133 LAs the previous year)

• 5,334 inspections /visits to gambling premises by LAs (-
5% from March 2016). This includes proactive and 
reactive visits, follow up inspections and test purchasing 
exercises

• LA returns report 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-
authorities/Licensing-authority-returns.aspx

Page 131



Other issues to strengthen

• Machines /gaming in pubs 
oCode of Practice for gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises
oCode of Practice for equal chance gaming in alcohol licensed premises

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-
authority-toolkit/Pubs-and-clubs/Pubs-and-clubs-toolkit.aspx

• Plans - reminder about plan requirements in Nov LA bulletin 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-
authority-bulletin-November-2017.pdf

• Direct access - reminder about access rules in Sept 17 LA 
bulletin

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-
bulletin-September-2017.pdf

Page 132



DCMS review

• Published Oct 2017
o review of machine stakes and prizes
o allocation of machines
o raft of social responsibility measures to minimise risk of gambling 

related harm – including advertising, online gambling, education, 
research and treatment 

• NB changing only the B2s S&P will just divert concerns 
about problem gambling elsewhere.  Don’t let it go off your 
radar!

• Let us know if you get any unusual premises applications

• Timescales for response /implementation changes unknown 

• NB: don’t include table of stakes/prizes in SOP

Page 133



Next steps

• Review of SOP in workplan for 2018/19 and secure full 
council slot pre Jan 2019

• Gather data for some form of local area profile  -
consider your expectations for local risk assessments 
as minimum

• Engage with local police

• Engage with public health/safeguarding teams

• Consider working with neighbouring LAs

Page 134



SOP Resources

• GLA (part 6)
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-
licensing-authorities.aspx

• Quick guide for councillors on SOP (please give to your committee 
members)

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-
toolkit/Statement-of-principles/Statement-of-principles-for-licensing-authorities.aspx

• SOP Bulletin January 2018
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-
January-2018.pdf

No complaints October 2017 bulletin
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LA-bulletin/Licensing-authority-bulletin-
October-2017.pdf

Page 135



Other resources

• Range of toolkits, template letters and information notes 
on LA section of website 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/for-
licensing-authorities.aspx

• LA inspection powers info document
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/Statutory-powers-of-
inspection-under-the-Gambling-Act-2005.pdf

• LLEP inspection guidance and checklists
http://www.llepbizgateway.co.uk/gambling-act-2005/

• GC/IOL e-learning modules (gaming machines) 
https://instituteoflicensing.org/ELearning.aspx

Page 136



making gambling 
fairer and safer all

www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

@GamRegGB

Page 137



Appendix 7 Consultation Responses

1. This is to acknowledge your message and to say that I have reviewed the draft document on 
behalf of the **** Residents’ Association; I do not have any comment to make on the draft. 
[Local Residents Association]

2. I agree that there should be a stronger working relationship with the Director of Public Health 
especially in relation to protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling. [WBC 
Councillor]

Page 138



Title of policy, function or service Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 - 
2022

Lead officer Richard Brown

Person completing the EIA Richard Brown

Type of policy, function or service: Existing (reviewed) 

New/Proposed    

Version & Date Version 1, 13th September 2018

Equality Impact Analysis

Page 139



1. Background

The council is the local licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005 and is required to review, 
consult upon and publish a policy document every three years. The current policy expires on 6th 
January 2019 and sets out how the council exercises its various responsibilities in terms of issuing 
premises licences, liaising with the Gambling Commission (a national co-regulator), carrying out its 
enforcement functions and issuing permits for small-scale gambling such as machines in alcohol-
licensed premises and registering small society lotteries.

In preparing the statement the licensing authority must have regard to the three licensing objectives 
of the Gambling Act, namely:

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or 
disorder or being used to support crime

• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. 
The Gambling Commission states: “The requirement in relation to children is explicitly to 
protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

The existing statement of principles was adopted by the council on 23rd November 2015 and is due 
to expire on 6th January 2019 and the report being taken to committee on 26th September seeks 
approval to approve a revised policy that will expire in January 2022.

Officers have received no complaints about the operation of the policy and believe it to be working 
well, so only minor changes were proposed to the policy.

These were agreed by Licensing Committee in June 2018 and relate to:

1) Strengthening the links between the council and the local Director of Public Health, in order to 
further promote the licensing objective relating to the protection of children and other 
vulnerable people from gambling. 

2) Changing the way in which notifications and applications for five or more gaming machines 
permits are currently dealt if there no representations and officers are satisfied that the 
licensing objectives will be promoted.

2. Focus of the Equality Impact Analysis

This EIA, therefore, considers the potential equality related impacts, both positive and negative of 
the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles on the people in the groups or with the 
characteristics protected in the Equalities Act 2010. 

These are:

1. Age

Page 140



2. Disability

3. Gender Reassignment

4. Pregnancy and maternity

5. Race

6. Religion or belief

7. Sex (gender) 

8. Sexual Orientation

9. Marriage and Civil Partnership. 

3. Engagement and consultation 

A public consultation exercise was carried out between 27th July and 31st August 2018. The following 
organisations were written to: 

(a) Holders of premises licences, permits and gaming machine notices issued under the Act
(b) Trading Standards (Hertfordshire County Council)
(c) Residents of the Borough (residents’ associations)
(d) Hertfordshire Constabulary 
(e) Gambling Commission
(f) Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service
(g) Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board (Hertfordshire County Council)
(h) Development Management (Watford Borough Council)
(i) Environmental Health (Watford Borough Council)
(j) Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs
(k) Watford Borough Councillors 
(l) Hertfordshire County Council Director of Public Health 

Details of the consultation were placed on the council website and a public notice was placed in the 
Watford Observer on 27th July 2018.

Only two responses to the consultation were received, neither of which were via the online survey 
which included a number or equality and diversity questions, so it has not been possible to obtain 
any information about the characteristics of the responders.

None of the responses suggested that any of the protected characteristics would be adversely 
impacted by the proposed revisions to the policy, or that the policy as a whole would adversely 
affect a particular sector of the community. It is also worth noting that no complaints relating to 
equalities have been received in the duration of operation of the previous Policy.

4. What we know about the Watford population

The current population of Watford is 96,800 (mid 2017 estimate) and is estimated to grow by 16% 
by 2026. Population growth estimates stated that they expected Watford to reach 100,000 by the 
end of 2017. In terms of gender breakdown, there are estimated to be fractionally more female than 
male residents but the difference is not significant. 

Page 141



The 2011 Census shows the following breakdown in terms of ethnicity: White British (61.9%), White 
other (7.7%), Pakistani (6.7%), British Indian (5.5%) and British other Asian 4.4%).

Census information is now nearly 10 years old and it is likely that the ethnic profile of the borough 
has changed during this time to reflect more recent EU arrivals to the borough (EU2 countries – 
Romania and Bulgaria, who were given residency rights in 2014).

5. How will the council ensure equality is promoted through the 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019-2022?

Under the Equality Act 2010, three areas need to be considered when analysing the equality impact 
of the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019-2022:

1. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by 
or under the Act

2. advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it

3. foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people 
who do not 

Gambling Act 2005 applications and notifications are not assessed based on the characteristics of the 
applicant. Instead they are issued in accordance with the law and depend on the application being 
correctly submitted.

The information people will need to know about the legislation, as well as the application process is 
accessed via the council’s webpages and this feature provides additional support and help to those 
with a range of equalities related issues such as those for whom English is not the first language, 
those with visual impairment or learning difficulties.

The council’s website features ‘browsealoud’ which allows people to:

 translate pages into a range of different languages
 enlarge web pages
 activate voice over for web pages
 simplify web page content

Should an applicant’s characteristics make it difficult to use this channel then face to face and 
telephone contact is still possible.

Page 142



A. Positive impacts

The council has not identified any positive effects from the analysis of consultation responses, the 
makeup of the Borough and the way that applications are processed and consents issued.

The strengthening of protection of children and other vulnerable people from gambling within the 
revised policy clearly has a benefit relating to these groups.  For most gambling activity you have to 
be 18 (16 for some activities), and so the statement of principles protects those of this age.

By ensuring Watford is a borough where gambling is well regulated the principles also ensure that it 
is a place where communities can live safely and peacefully together, thus fostering the good 
relations that are also part of the council’s equality duty.

B. Negative impacts

The council has not identified any negative effects from the analysis of consultation responses, the 
makeup of the Borough and the way that applications are processed and consents issued.

Whilst the consultation itself has not identified any positive or negatives from the responses 
themselves, there are some other impacts that are relevant to the policy and should be noted:

Page 143



Positive Negative None Reasons for Decision

All groups in 
society 

x Positive: 

Within society there are vulnerable people who 
may develop addictions to gambling. Whilst the 
law requires licensed gambling premises to 
monitor those who gamble regularly and also to 
have self-exclusion schemes, historically this has 
been a difficult problem to deal with as Adult 
Safeguarding departments are not responsible 
authorities. 

The 2019-2022 policy aims to deal with / 
mitigate this by strengthening the links between 
the council and the local Director of Public 
Health. 

It is hoped that this will further promote the 
licensing objective relating to the protection of 
children and other vulnerable people from 
gambling. 

Specifically, we propose to develop a Local Area 
Profile, using health statistics and other data, 
that will assist premises licence holders and 
applicants with their local risk assessments.

Also whilst the Local Director of Public Health is 
not a Responsible Authority the council believes 
involving the local Public Health team will help 
promote the licensing objectives, so we are 
proposing to provide information on premises 
licences applications to the Director of Public 
Health for their comment.

Age x The law excludes under 18’s from most activities 
regulated by the legislation to which this policy 
applies so having a strong and detailed policy 
which officers believe this is will have a positive 
impact on this group.

Disability x

Gender 
Reassignment

x

Pregnancy and x

Page 144



maternity

Race x

Religion or 
belief

x

Sex (gender) x

Sexual 
Orientation

x

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership.

x

6. Overall conclusion

In applying this Policy, no particular group is given priority over another in relation to 
implementation of the Policy and how any applicant is dealt with. Applications are assessed on their 
individual merits, so all groups will be treated fairly by the council under its public sector equality 
duty.

Accordingly the Council is not in a position where it can proactively affect the profile of licence 
holders, but the Policy ensures that the process of obtaining a licence is fair and free of 
discrimination and there are no barriers to anyone making an application.

On consideration, the overall conclusion of the EIA is that there is no negative impact on any 
characteristic or group as a result of this Policy, and that the strengthening of links with the local 
Public Health Team will have a positive impact on all groups in society.

This EIA has been approved by:

… …………

Justine Hoy, Head of Environmental Health & Licensing

Date: 17th September 2018

Page 145


	Agenda
	5 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022
	Appendix 1 Gambling Policy 2016-2019
	Appendix 2 Gambling Policy 2019-2022 draft
	Appendix 3 GA 2005 statement of principles consultation questions
	Appendix 4 public health and gambling joint letter Jan 2018
	Appendix 5 CECG report problem gambling March 2018
	Appendix 6 SOP presentation
	Appendix 7 Consultation Responses
	Appendix 8 Equality impact assessment


